Desarrollo de formas farmacéuticas de liberación controlada para la administración ocular y transdérmica de fármacos Development of ocular and transdermal drug delivery systems

> Memoria que, para optar al grado de Doctor en Farmacia con Mención Internacional, presenta: Dña. María Sebastián Morelló



Departamento de Farmacia Facultad de Ciencias de la Salud

La memoria del trabajo de investigación para la obtención del grado de Doctor realizada por Dña. María Sebastián Morelló, titulada: "Desarrollo de formas farmacéuticas de liberación controlada para la administración ocular y transdérmica de fármacos. Development of ocular and transdermal drug delivery systems", ha sido realizada bajo la dirección de Dña. Alicia López Castellano, Catedrática del Departamento de Farmacia y Dña. Cristina Balaguer Fernández, Profesora Adjunta del Departamento de Farmacia de la Facultad de Ciencias de la Salud de la Universidad CEU Cardenal Herrera, y reúne todos los requisitos necesarios para su juicio y calificación.

Lo que suscriben en Moncada, a 25 de Noviembre de 2016

Dña. Alicia López Castellano

Dña. Cristina Balaguer Fernández

Esta Tesis Doctoral ha sido realizada mediante la financiación de la Conselleria d'Educació, Investigació, Cultura i Esport (Proyecto GV/2015/080), la Universidad CEU Cardenal Herrera, (proyectos PRCEU-UCH13/19, PRCEU-UCH11/11, INDI1413 e INDI1514), la Beca de Investigación asociada al Proyecto PRCEU-UCH11/11 y las Ayudas para la Movilidad Investigadora CEU – Banco Santander (13/14 y 14/15).

Agradecimientos

Cómo empezar a agradecer a todas las personas que han estado implicadas en esta Tesis. Esto va a ser casi igual de difícil que escribir este largo documento en "inglés". Aunque como todas las cosas, tiene un inicio y un final, así que empecemos por mis directoras, Alicia y Cristina.

Alicia me invitó a unirme a esta pequeña familia "los de los parches", en la que me he sentido como en casa. Aquí encontré a mi segunda "mamá", a la que más de una vez he llamado de este modo por equivocación. Cristina ha sido un apoyo constante y ha conseguido hacerme entender todo lo que por "cabezonería" no quería. Hemos llegado a conocernos hasta el punto de sentirla a ella y a su propia familia como personas importantes en mi vida. En tan pocas palabras no se puede agradecer todo lo que me ha dado y no voy a poder devolverle nunca. Alicia me ha aconsejado todo lo que yo no quería hacer, pero que en el fondo sabía que era lo mejor para mí. Claro ejemplo es esta tesis, que creo que he estado a punto de dejar, en mi mente, en más de una ocasión y que no quería escribir ni defender en inglés de ninguna de las maneras. Le agradezco toda la paciencia que ha tenido conmigo, así como su cariño y el de su familia. Aunque no he compartido tiempo con todos ellos, Carlos y María también han formado una pequeña parte de este "viaje".

En esta pequeña familia, también me encontré con Andrés, con quien aprendía la riqueza de los congresos internacionales, y con Aracely, una compañera de batallas, consejera y si es necesario colaboradora de lo que haga falta. A ella la he visto superarse día a día, luchando por lo que más quiere. No puedo olvidarme de Virginia, de sus buenos consejos, ideas y correcciones que ha aportado a mi trabajo. Además, la comunicación y el trabajo de este pequeño grupo no sería lo mismo sin Ana. Le agradezco toda la paciencia que ha tenido conmigo, sus palabras de apoyo y los malabarismos que es capaz de realizar para hacer un hueco en los horarios más saturados.

Ahora está claro cómo llegué aquí, al laboratorio CEU, un lugar cuanto menos diferente, donde no solo hacemos investigación o docencia, sino también amigos y compañeros que nos marcan para siempre. Aquí tomé mis primeras lecciones sobre

"ojos" con Miguel y Violeta, lecciones que impartidas con el primer ojo de cabra que vi en mi vida. Rosa me ha enseñado muchas cosas, pero creo que lo que más me impactó fue su clase magistral sobre las micropipetas. Además, agradezco su ayuda para montar experimentos y todo el apoyo que me ha ofrecido en esos infinitos cafés siempre que los he necesitado.

No puedo olvidarme de mi gran compañera Disney. Las largas tardes en el laboratorio no hubieran sido iguales sin Teresa, el juego de las películas, los cines y todas las locuras que nos ha dado tiempo a hacer en este tiempo. Le debo la fortaleza de los primeros años de esta experiencia y el ejemplo de determinación para acabar lo que hemos empezado y así poder seguir nuestro propio camino que muchas veces está lejos de lo que los demás esperan de nosotros.

En el labo también me encontré con Sara y Sole, con las que he compartido tardes de locura, pero también ha habido tiempo para aprender nuevos protocolos de laboratorio. Aunque creo que lo que más une es el camino, esa yincana que son las tesis doctorales y que hemos recorrido juntas. Sois las mejores primísimas que he podido conocer y no podría haber elegido mejores compañeras.

Qué puedo decir de Tanya. Creo que las dos hemos madurado con nuestro paso por el laboratorio CEU. Ahora tenemos más nociones de fontanería, de informática, de almacenaje... entre otros ámbitos. Además, mis pinitos con el GSH no hubieran sido lo mismo sin ella.

Ahora que estoy con esto del GSH, debería mencionar a María. Ella me ha aconsejado y ayudado a enfocar mi trabajo con esta molécula. Siguiendo con esto también debo agradecer a Paco sus buenos consejos y recomendaciones sobre cómo trabajar con el GSH. Sin olvidarme de Inma, que me ha dado grandes consejos y me ha apoyado con miles de cafés, almuerzos y meriendas.

Para terminar con todo el equipo de fisiología que me ha ayudado y con el que he aprendido tanto, aun necesito nombrar a Laura, compañera de penas y glorias, nuestra experta en inglés y una luchadora nata que nos inspira con su fortaleza. También está Esther, con quien he aprendido sin querer, un poquito sobre Western Blot, y debo agradecerle el ejemplo de constancia y superación que nos ha transmitido. Se puede llegar hasta donde uno quiera, siempre que te lo propongas de verdad y luches por ello. Y el último en llegar fue Roberto, que después de ser alumno, se convirtió en un gran compañero, un alma inquieta con la necesidad de formarse.

Para esta aventura también he necesitado proveedores de ojos, y alguien que me enseñara a conseguirlos y trabajar con ellos. Agradezco muchos de mis conocimientos en cunicultura, por no decir todos, a todo el equipo de anatomía patológica, con el que he compartido eternos momentos durante el transcurso de esta tesis (Mariola, Ana, David, Susi, Sara...).

Como todos sabemos, el apoyo no solo está en los conocimientos, sino también en las largas horas de conversación que necesitamos para poder seguir adelante. En esta parte quiero dar las gracias todas las personas que han pasado por el laboratorio CEU durante estos años y con las que he coincidido (Pili, Cristina, Maria Garcia, Maria Maroto, Cristina Linares, Juanjo, Jaime, Laura...).

Siguiendo en el laboratorio CEU, nos encontramos con Jose Antonio, nuestro técnico por excelencia, a quien puedes preguntar casi sobre cualquier tema y con alta probabilidad tendrás una nueva solución que nunca te hubieras planteado. Le agradezco todo el tiempo dedica, ya que sin él esta tesis no habría sido lo mismo. Y sin alejarnos mucho de este sótano, nos topamos con Cristina, Vanesa, Ana... todo el equipo que se encarga de que nuestra vida "bajo tierra" sea más llevadera, ofreciendo siempre buenas dosis de conversación y humor.

No puedo olvidar a las ejecutivas de limpieza y catering en el CEU. Ellas consiguen sacarnos una sonrisa en los peores días y cómo no también en los mejores. Asimismo, quiero agradecer todo su acompañamiento al personal administrativo del CEU. Sin ellas las "yincanas" con papeles habrían sido mucho más difíciles y llegar a tiempo prácticamente imposible. Quiero mencionar con mucho cariño, a Lucia, Eva, Teresa, Mari Carmen, Carmen...

Durante este viaje, además de trabajar duro en el CEU, se presentó la oportunidad de hacer una estancia y Alicia me recomendó ir a Ginebra con un gran amigo suyo, Yogi. Pese a mi reticencia, al final me convencieron y, tras una estancia de 3 meses, aún quise repetir y volví 4 meses más al año siguiente.

Allí tuve la suerte de tener a Sergio, a Cesar y a Maje, "the spanish team" o al menos parte de él. Ellos me recibieron con cariño y me hicieron sentir como en casa. A Sergio, "the dictator", le agradezco toda la paciencia que ha tenido conmigo y todo el tiempo invertido en ayudarme y conseguir que mi tiempo en el laboratorio fuese lo más fructífero posible. Qué puedo decir de Cesar, siempre ha tenido buenos consejos y una paciencia eterna cada vez que necesitaba su ayuda en el laboratorio, dando igual el día y la hora, además mis excel's tampoco habrían sido lo mismo sin él. Por último, Maje, a la que agradezco su cercanía y su compañía. Aunque no hemos trabajado juntas, hemos compartido salidas y experiencias y ha estado a punto para echar una mano, ya sea para buscar casa o para organizar una cena.

Ahora, sintiéndolo mucho por aquellos que no podáis entenderlo, debo saltar al inglés para agradecer a mis "colegas" de Suiza:

I would like to thanks Prof Yogeshvar N Kalia "Yogi", who welcome me in his lab, and made possible my double stay in Switzerland, I really appreciate his time, patience and great support. As well I would like to thanks all my colleagues in UNIGE lab. My favourite Indian team, Mayank, Kiran, Somnath and Vasu, they open my mind to a new culture and finally I feel like at home with them, we share meals, dinks and weddings. I would like to thank also Yong, Nawal, Maria and Myrtha for all their support and the great time spend together. I cannot forget either Verena, a great friend, with her I shared good moments, of work and leisure. So, I got into the Italian team and the coffee culture. Thanks to this I found the support of Francesca, an example of improvement and strength. To finish with my English acknowledges, I would like to thanks other colleagues in UNIGE that always have a great smile for me every time I made a visit "just to say Hello".

Volviendo al español, después de tantas peripecias, casi toda la población del laboratorio CEU con la que empecé ha ido evolucionando. Hemos visto cómo algunas compañeras se casaban, tienen hijos. Ha habido cambios de trabajo, de ciudad, de país... En definitiva, hemos madurado.

Cuando acabé mi vida en el sótano, llegué a las plantas superiores del CEU. Allí estaba mi compi de despacho Laura, un apoyo para todos esos días interminables de docencia y esos horarios imposibles que nos brinda muchas veces "Veterinaria". MariCarmen también ha sido un soporte en todo esto, pero sobre todo en estos últimos "meses" de estrés pre-tesis hemos compartido información, penas y estrés para poder llegar a este momento, "el fin de nuestra tesis". Sin olvidarme de Cristina, una trabajadora nata, capaz de entender toda la documentación administrativa que le pongan por delante. Admiro su empuje para llevar adelante su tesis y sus estudios.

Últimamente hemos tenido nuevas incorporaciones en el grupo de "los de los parches", que aunque no han sido duraderas, me han enseñado mucho. He descubierto que es mucho más fácil hacer experimentos y usar el HPLC que explicar a otra persona a usarlo. Estos nuevos conocimientos, así como una visión más fresca y renovada del trabajo en el laboratorio, se los debo a Salva, Rosa y Adrián, a los que he visto aprender a trabajar en el laboratorio y superarse día a día.

Como antigua estudiante del CEU y actual profesora, agradezco a los que fueron mis profesores todo el conocimiento que me trasmitieron y siguen trasmitiéndome. Con una mención especial a Maria Auxiliadora "Maruxi", a Lourdes y a Eugenia, a quienes agradezco su refuerzo y paciencia en estos últimos meses de estado "tesoso".

A parte de todas las personas con las que he compartido mi tiempo de trabajo y muchas veces también de ocio, otros han colaborado y soportado mis ataques de histeria y pesimismo. Agradezco a los Juniors de Almussafes, muy especialmente a "mis niños", y a todos los demás Juniors, de zona, vicaría, incluso a nivel diocesano que me he ido topando en mi camino, a los que he martirizado con mis conversaciones sobre ciencia y han llegado a prestar interés en estas conversaciones, cosa que admiro. Debo mencionar especialmente a Juan Borrás con quien he compartido más de 100 cafés para contarnos nuestras penas y alegrías en la ciencia. Tampoco puedo olvidar a Josep, a quien agradezco las horas de terapia telefónica y en persona que ha tenido que invertir en mí, así como todos los escritos que ha corregido para ayudarme. Además, ha sido un gran compañero en este tiempo, dejándome ver el lado positivo cuando lo veía todo negro.

A mis amigos les agradezco el soportar y apoyar cada locura que me he planteado. A Quim le debo especialmente su apoyo y todas esas conversaciones sobre revistas científicas, becas, proyecto y otra información importante para nuestro futuro laboral, conversaciones que los demás han tenido que soportar estoicamente en nuestras cenas. A Mar le agradezco su apoyo, visitas, llamadas, así como los riesgos tomados. A Samuel le debo toda esa información extra que me ha aportado tener un amigo veterinario y que ha sido tan útil para mi labor docente. A María le agradezco que siempre haya estado ahí, además de sus conocimientos de inglés que han salvado más de uno de mis emails, para ser todo lo "polite" que debían ser. Por ultimo me queda Rafa, la calma y serenidad de la cuadrilla, a quien debo su ejemplo y apoyo en este desafío.

Antes de pasar a la familia, voy a dar las gracias a esas personas que, aunque las consideres de casa y te apoyen como tal, no te une a ellas ningún vínculo sanguíneo. Voy a empezar por mi Vero y su familia, Mari, Amelia, Oscar y Mateo me han ofrecido su confianza apoyo, cariño y han tenido la capacidad de sacarme una sonrisa en cualquier momento. No hay nada mejor para avanzar que sentirse como en casa.

Además, quiero agradecer a mi tía Ana Mari, mi tío Jose, Cristina Eugenia, la abuela Ana María... todos ellos han estado ahí cuando me ha hecho falta y me han tratado como si fuese de verdad de la familia. Siempre me han consolado, aconsejado y escuchado desde el corazón y no puedo dejar de agradecérselo en estas líneas.

Por último, agradezco a toda mi familia, su apoyo incondicional en todo momento, bien sea con una conversación, una cena, una salida, un WhatsApp, una llamada... Mis tíos, primos y todos los que forman parte de mi gran familia gitana que siempre está presente cuando se la necesita. Sé que ellos entienden que no les puedo nombrar a todos, pero me han acompañado en el transcurso de esta tesis y de mi vida. Quiero agradecer de forma especial a mi tío Javier, mi tía Luisa y mi primo Javi, que han soportado todo este periodo y me han ofrecido aliento de forma constante, dándome ánimos y buenos consejos.

A mis abuelos les debo su apoyo. Aunque no todos ellos hayan llegado a compartir esta parte de mi vida, han sido un ejemplo para mí. Se han alegrado conmigo de todos mis logros y han aguantado largas temporadas sin verme por mi vida tan ajetreada. Mi abuelo Luis ha descubierto las nuevas tecnologías para poder ver a su nieta en directo mientras estaba de estancia.

Por último, queda agradecer a mis padres. Ellos me han apoyado en todas las decisiones que he tomado y no solo han sido un soporte económico y emocional, también han llorado conmigo y trasnochado o madrugado cada vez que mi ánimo no aguantaba. Quién más que una madre puede soportar llamadas telefónicas diarias de horas, en las que estoy segura de que no entendía todo lo que decía, cuando he estado lejos y necesitaba desahogarme tras un experimento fallido o una máquina que no funcionaba. Y cómo no mi padre, que sigue apoyándome en todas las decisiones que tomo. Aunque muchas veces hay caminos menos enrevesados para llegar al mismo sitio y aunque muchas veces no quiero reconocerlo, me da grandes consejos que rebato gracias a "mi punto de apoyo", pero él ha sido una inspiración para que yo llegase a tomar este rumbo en mi vida.

Tingues paciència amb tots, però sobretot amb tu mateixa.

San Francesc de Sales

Table of Contents

AbbreviationsI							
Chap	ter 1:	Introduction1					
Chapter 2: Aims of the thesis / Objetivos de la tesis7							
Chap	Chapter 3: Background11						
1.	Dru	ug delivery systems					
2.	Ocu	lar administration13					
	2.1.	Ocular structures13					
	2.2.	Routes of ocular absorption17					
	2.3.	Ocular formulations18					
	2.4.	Conjunctivitis21					
	2.5.	Retinitis pigmentosa23					
3.	Trar	nsdermal administration26					
	3.1.	Skin structures					
	3.2.	Routes of transdermal absorption29					
	3.3.	Transdermal formulations					
	3.4.	Enhancer strategies35					
	3.5.	Schizophrenia					
4.	Ex-v	<i>ivo</i> absorption studies through membranes: ocular and transdermal42					
Chap for th	oter 4: ne trea	<i>Ex-vivo</i> rabbit cornea absorption studies with a soluble insert of moxifloxacin atment of conjunctivitis45					
1.	Intro	oduction47					
2.	Mat	erial and methods48					
	2.1.	Reagents					
	2.2.	Collection and preservation of the study membrane49					
	2.3.	<i>Ex-vivo</i> ocular absorption studies50					
	2.4.	Instrumentation and chromatographic conditions50					
	2.5.	Data analysis					
	2.6.	Histological studies					
	2.7.	Preparation and evaluation of the ocular inserts51					
3.	Resu	ults and discussion54					
3	3.1.	Viability studies54					
	3.2.	Preparation and evaluation of the ocular inserts57					

Cha anti	pter 5 oxidant	Ex-vivo ocular absorption studies with glutathione formulations treatment	as 61	
1.	Intro	oduction	63	
2.	Mat	erial and methods	64	
	2.1.	Reagents	64	
	2.2.	Stability studies	65	
	2.3.	Ocular formulations with glutathione	65	
	2.4.	Study membranes source	66	
	2.5.	Ex-vivo ocular absorption studies	66	
	2.6.	Determination of glutathione	67	
	2.7.	Data analysis	69	
3.	Resu	ults and discussion	69	
Cha	pter 6:	Transdermal permeation of olanzapine after fractional laser ablation	75	
1.	Intro	oduction	77	
2.	Mat	erials and methods	78	
	2.1.	Reagents	78	
	2.2.	Preparation of standard solutions	78	
	2.3.	Instrumentation and chromatographic conditions	78	
	2.4.	Olanzapine analytical method validation	79	
	2.5.	Transdermal delivery of olanzapine	81	
	2.6.	Data analysis	82	
3.	Resu	ults and discussion	82	
	3.1.	Olanzapine transdermal <i>ex-vivo</i> experiments	86	
Chapter 7: Controlled iontophoretic delivery of olanzapine: development of tran formulations				
1.	Intro	oduction	91	
2.	Mat	erials and methods	92	
	2.1.	Reagents	92	
	2.2.	Preparation of olanzapine transdermal formulations	93	
	2.3.	Olanzapine transdermal absorption assays	94	
	2.4.	Instrumentation and chromatographic conditions	97	
	2.5.	Data analysis	98	

3.	Results and discussion	
Chapter 8: Discussion		
1.	Ocular administration	105
2.	Transdermal administration	109
Chapter 9: Conclusions / Conclusiones115		
Chapter 10: References		

Abbreviations

Abbreviations

ACM, Acetaminophen	I, Current intensity	
ACN, Acetonitrile	IF, Inhibition factor	
Ag, Silver	J, Flux of the drug	
AgCl, Silver chloride	J _{EM} , Electromigration flux	
ANOVA, Analysis of variance	J _{EO} , Electroosmotic flux	
b, Slop of linear regression	J _{ss} , Steady-state flux of the durg	
C, Concentration of diffuding substance	J _{TOT} , Total flux	
D, Diffusion coefficient of the drug in the	KHCO ₃ , Potassium bicarbonate	
stratum corneum	KOH, Potassium hydroxide	
dC/dx, Concentration gradient	log P _{oct/wat} , Octanol-water partition	
DL, Detection limit	coefficient	
DNFB, 1-fluoro-2, 4-dinitro benceno	MES, 2-Morpholino-ethanesulfonic acid	
EM, Electromigration	monohydrate	
EO, Electroosmosis	min, Minutes	
F, Faraday's constant	Mox, Moxifloxacin	
FDA, Food and drug administration	NaCl, Sodium chloride	
GABA, Gamma-aminobutyric acid	NaOH, Sodium hydroxide	
GSH, Glutathione	OLZ, Olanzapine	
h, Hour	P, Partition coefficient between the	
H, Membrane thickness	stratum corneum and the vehicle	
HCl, Hydrochloric acid	PBS, Phosphate buffered solution	
HEC, HydroxyEthyl cellulose	PCA, Perchloric acid	
HPLC. High performance liquid	PEG, Polyethylen glycol	
chromatography	P.L.E.A.S.E., Painless laser epidermal	
HPMC, Hydroxypropyl methylcellulose	system	
	PTFE, Polytetrafluoroehylene	

III

PVP, Polyvinylpyrrolidone	TS, Transdermal system
Q, Accumulative amount	Tn, Transport number
QL, Quantification limit	UV/VIS, Ultraviolet/Visible
RP, Retinitis pigmentosa	v, Solvent flow
RSD, Relative standard deviation	Vit C, Vitamin C
SD, Standard deviation	x, Space co-ordinate
T80, Tween 80 [®]	z, Valence of the molecule

Chapter 1: Introduction

In recent years, several new pharmaceutical controlled release forms have been developed. These forms provide better regimens, an improved pharmacokinetic profile and fewer adverse effects [1]. Control release forms allow for the release of the active compounds to be controlled by any administration route, but the most commonly used are oral, transdermal, ocular and parenteral.

Topical ocular drug delivery is the most common route of treatment in eye diseases, since it is the simplest application form [2]. The most common dosage form for this route is eye drops. However, the characteristics of ocular absorption result in a problem of bioavailability of the active ingredients in the eye [3]. Some new ocular administration forms have been developed to increase the residence time of the drug in the ophthalmic mucosa or corneal surface, with minimal side effects, maximum efficiency and stable therapeutic concentrations in the eye area. This group of dosage forms includes ophthalmic inserts.

Ocular inserts are solid or semisolid controlled-release devices that facilitate the delivery of drugs to the anterior segment of the eye. These inserts allow for the reduction of the systemic absorption of the drugs and in many cases improve patient compliance/adherence with dosage regimens, since they reduce the frequency of administration and, visual and systemic, side effects [4,5].

Conjunctivitis is one of the most common eye diseases. It is normally bilateral, benign and of self-limiting symptoms, but moreover the proximity of these symptoms to the cornea can cause corneal wounds (keratoconjuntivitis). The course of the disease distinguishes acute from chronic conjunctivitis, which refers to the duration of the symptoms. Conjunctivitis can be treated with moxifloxacin (Mox) [6], a hydrophilic molecule with a value of log P_{oct/wat} 0.6 [7], which is currently marketed only as eye drops. However, the aforementioned anatomical barriers reduce the drug's bioavailability, resulting in less than 5 % of the drug penetrating the inner part of the eye [3]. In this context, the formulation of an ocular insert containing moxifloxacin could be an alternative to conventional treatment.

Retinitis Pigmentosa (RP) is a hereditary eye disease. The retina undergoes a progressive degeneration that causes a severe deterioration of the visual capacity and which in many cases leads to blindness. Several studies have suggested that

3

glutathione (GSH) metabolism and other related amino acids such as glutamate are altered in different models of retinal degeneration [8–11]. GSH is a peptide composed by three amino acids: cysteine, glutamate and glycine. It is present in most mammalian cells, and plays an important role in many biological processes, protecting cells from oxidative stress caused by free radicals and other reactive species, maintaining normal redox potential inside the cell. For that reasons, the use of GSH has been proposed to treat or to reduce the progression of this disease. Specifically, ocular administration of GSH is one of the possible routes; namely, this molecule could be incorporated into an ophthalmic insert for use in eye therapy.

Administration of drugs through the skin in order to obtain a systemic effect has led to the development of a pharmaceutical form known as transdermal systems. These systems allow for dosage control and a constant delivery of the drug. In recent years, they have been used in the administration of drugs used in long-term treatments, and there are several studies that have been carried out to attempt to incorporate different therapeutic agents. Given the difficulty with which drugs pass through the skin, different promoter techniques have been incorporated into transdermal systems. One of the principal techniques is iontophoresis, defined as the application of an electrical potential maintaining a constant electric current through the skin (typically ≤ 0.5 mA/cm²), which improves the passage of ionized and non-ionized molecules [12]. Another enhancing technique is controlled laser microporation, which can be used to undermine the integrity of this barrier [13]. This laser emits μ s pulses and excites the molecules of water in the epidermis and dermis, their explosive evaporation resulting in the formation of micropores.

Schizophrenia is a heterogeneous syndrome characterized by a disturbance of language, perception, social emotional and will. Antipsychotic drugs, especially atypical antipsychotic agents, are the mainstays of acute treatment and maintenance of symptoms of schizophrenia. Olanzapine (OLZ) is a highly efficient antipsychotic agent and is generally well tolerated. Its pharmacokinetics are linear and dose-proportional within the approved dosage range [14]. It is currently available for oral and intramuscular injection administration. OLZ possesses an extensive first pass metabolism, with approximately 40 % of the dose being lost before reaching the

4

systemic circulation, such as lack adherence to the treatment. Therefore, the administration of OLZ by the transdermal route may bring therapeutic progress in the treatment of these patients. For this aim, an OLZ transdermal system (TS) could be an effective option, and iontophoresis or microporation could be used as enhancer techniques to increase drug permeation through the skin.

Chapter 2: Aims of the thesis / Objetivos de la tesis

1. Aims of the thesis

The research described in this thesis focuses on the development of drug delivery systems for ocular administration of moxifloxacin and glutathione and transdermal administration of olanzapine.

The aims of the present work were:

- To develop an ocular therapeutic system containing moxifloxacin for the treatment of conjunctivitis, and to study *ex-vivo* absorption of moxifloxacin through the cornea from the developed form.
- To evaluate the possibility of administrating glutathione through the eye and to develop a formulation for its possible use as antioxidant treatment for retinal degenerative diseases.
- To analyze the feasibility of transdermal administration of olanzapine as alternative treatment for schizophrenia.
 - a. To validate an analytical method for the detection and quantification of olanzapine in samples obtained from transdermal diffusion studies.
 - b. To study the *ex-vivo* absorption of olanzapine through the skin.
 - c. To study the effect of enhancer techniques (microporation and iontophoresis) to increase the absorption of olanzapine through the skin.
 - d. To develop transdermal drug delivery systems for the administration of olanzapine and to evaluate the effect of the enhancer technique selected on the permeation of olanzapine from these formulations.

2. Objetivos de la tesis

La investigación descrita en esta tesis se centra en el desarrollo de sistemas de liberación controlada para la administración ocular de moxifloxacino y glutatión, así como la administración transdérmica de olanzapina.

Los objetivos del presente trabajo fueron:

- Desarrollar un sistema terapéutico ocular que contenga moxifloxacino para el tratamiento de la conjuntivitis, y estudiar la absorción *ex-vivo* del moxifloxacino a través de la córnea a partir de la formulación desarrollada.
- Evaluar la posibilidad de administrar glutatión por vía ocular y desarrollar una formulación para su posible uso como tratamiento antioxidante en enfermedades degenerativas de la retina.
- Analizar la viabilidad de la administración transdérmica de olanzapina como alternativa terapéutica para la esquizofrenia.
 - a. Validar un método analítico para la detección y cuantificación de la olanzapina a partir de muestras obtenidas de estudios de difusión transdérmica.
 - b. Estudiar la absorción *ex-vivo* de la olanzapina a través de la piel.
 - c. Estudiar el efecto de técnicas promotoras (microporación e iontoforesis) para aumentar la absorción de la olanzapina a través de la piel.
 - d. Desarrollar sistemas transdérmicos de liberación controlada con olanzapina para la administración de este fármaco y evaluar el efecto de la técnica seleccionada en la permeación de la olanzapina a partir de estas formulaciones.
Chapter 3: Background

1. Drug delivery systems

A drug delivery system is defined as a formulation or a device that enables the introduction of a therapeutic substance into the body and improves its efficacy and safety by controlling the rate, time, and place of release of the drug in the body. This process includes the administration of the formulation, the release of the active ingredient from formulation, and the subsequent transport of the active ingredients across the biological membranes to the site of action [1].

Drugs may be introduced into the human body by various anatomical routes. Sometimes the final aim is the systemic effects or targeted to various organs and diseases. The choice of route of administration depends on the disease, the effect desired, and the available commercialized formulations. The drug can be administrated directly to the target organ or systemically, being targeted at the affected organ(s).

The ocular route is normally used to treat ocular disease. In this case, drug delivery systems can increase the bioavailability of the drug and the effect of the treatment. Ophthalmic inserts are one of the options of drug delivery systems available for use in the eye [15].

Transdermal drug delivery is an approach used to deliver drugs through the skin for a systemic therapeutic effect, and is used as an alternative to oral, intravascular, subcutaneous and transmucosal routes. Transdermal systems (TS) are the most commonly used pharmaceutical drug delivery systems [1].

2. Ocular administration

2.1. Ocular structures

The adult eyeball measures about 2.5 cm in diameter. Of its total area, only a sixth of the front is exposed; the rest is hidden and protected by the orbit, within which is housed the eye [16] (Figure 1).

Development of ocular and transdermal drug delivery systems



Figure 1. Schematic representation of human eye obtained from reference [16].

The **cornea** is a transparent layer that covers the colored iris. Its curvature helps focus light on the retina and a correct visual perception depends on its healthy state. It is a richly innervated avascular tissue consisting of five layers; namely, from outermost to innermost, the epithelium, Bowman's membrane, stroma, Descemet's membrane and endothelium [5] (Figure 2).

Epithelium constitutes 10 % of the total corneal thickness. It is a multilayered epithelium, and is not keratinized. It is constantly bathed by the tear, which provides the oxygen and metabolites it needs. It consists of 5 to 10 cell layers and their thickness varies depending on the area, being thinner in the center [16].

Bowman's membrane is a transparent and acellular layer composed of mucopolysaccharides and mucoprotein extensions. It acts as a defensive barrier against bacterial attack [16].

The **stroma** accounts for 85 % or 90 % of the total thickness of the cornea and consists of dense connective tissue. It is composed of cells (keratinocytes, lymphocytes,

macrophages and polymorphs), collagen fibers, mucopolysaccharides and glycoproteins [16].



Figure 2. Schematic representation of the human cornea. A, Epithelium; B, Bowman's membrane; C, Stroma; D, Descemet's membrane; E, Endothelium.

Descemet's membrane is the basement membrane that lies between the stroma and the endothelial layer. It is composed of collagen and glycoprotein's [16].

The **endothelium** is the innermost layer of the cornea and it is made up of a monolayer of cells that regulate the transport of solutes between the aqueous humor of the anterior chamber and the stroma [16].

The **sclera** is the so-called "white" of the eye, a layer of dense connective tissue composed mainly of collagen fibers and fibroblasts, which makes it more rigid, gives it shape and protects the internal parts of the eye. The entire eyeball except the cornea is covered by sclera [16].

Anatomically it is constituted of three layers: the fibrous layer, the vascular layer and the retina.

The **fibrous layer** is the surface covering the eyeball and is constituted by the cornea and sclera.

The **vascular layer**, or uvea, is the middle layer of the eyeball, and is made up of three parts: the choroid, ciliary body and iris.

The **choroid** is highly vascular and constitutes the posterior portion of the vascular lining layer, accounting for and most of the posterior surface of the sclera.

The **ciliary body** is constituted by the ciliary processes and ciliary muscle; it is attached to the retina and reaches the junction between the cornea and sclera. It is brown because of its high content of melanin. Its functions are to secrete the aqueous humor and alter the shape of the lens to adapt it to near and far vision [16].

The **iris** is the colored portion of the eye. Its function is to regulate the amount of light entering the eyeball through the pupil.

The **retina** is the third layer and the innermost layer of the eye. It represents the beginning of the optical path. It is a specialized sensory organ capable of transforming light into electric signals that are transmitted via the optic nerve to the visual center of the brain. It is composed of a thin sheet of neural tissue covering 2/3 of the inner surface of the posterior part of the eye [17]. It is essentially a portion of the forebrain projected towards the frontal or anterior surface of the organism, and consists of highly specialized neurons with the exclusive function of light perception and first order signal processing.

The mature mammalian retina consists of two district tissues: the neural retina composed of neurons and glial cells, and the retinal pigmented epithelium, a single epithelial cell layer.

The retina is a seven-layer structure, with light entering the ganglion cell layer first. From there light must penetrate each layer and its cells (bipolar, amacrine and horizontal cells) before reaching the rods and cones, the two types of photoreceptors that absorb light and transform it into electrical signals that initiate downstream events that are essential for the sense of sight [17] (Figure 3).

The signal is transmitted to bipolar cells, responsible for processing and transmitting the signal. Amacrine and horizontal cells are also involved in perpetuating the signal from the photoreceptors. Ganglion cells receive the signal from the bipolar

cells and connect directly, via the optic nerve, with the brain for further processing and visual perception [17].





2.2. Routes of ocular absorption

The administration form most commonly used for ophthalmic treatment is the topical route [2]. To exert their action, most drugs must penetrate the cornea and/or sclera and reach the aqueous humour. However, ocular absorption of topically applied drugs is poor because of inherent anatomical and physiological barriers [3]. Absorption through the cornea is considered the main route for ocular administration of drugs [19]. The epithelium is the corneal layer that plays a critical role in the penetration of active substances, as is designed to protect ocular tissues that prevent foreign matter from entering the eye [20]. It represents 90 % of all corneal cells and is a barrier for hydrophilic molecules due to their hydrophobic properties. The stroma – the next layer – is composed of a highly hydrated extracellular matrix that limits the permeation of lipophilic substances [15]. Drug penetration through the corneal epithelium can occur by the transcellular or paracellular route depending on the properties of the drug (Figure

4). The transcellular route is favored for hydrophobic active substances of a small size, which can cross the epithelial cells by diffusion. The paracellular route, on the other hand, is used by hydrophilic substances, which pass through the spaces between cells [21].



Figure 4. Penetration routes though the cornea. Adapted from reference [22].

The sclera is a minor absorption pathway compared to the corneal route, but for a few compounds its contribution is significant. Structurally, the sclera is very similar to the corneal stroma, containing numerous channels and consisting mainly of collagen and mucopolysaccharides [23]. The poorly vascularized sclera is significantly more permeable than the cornea. Its permeability is similar to that of the stroma. The pathway of drug molecules across the sclera is inversely proportional to the molecular radius [24]. Furthermore, the charge of the drug molecule also affects its permeability across the sclera. Positively charged molecules exhibit poor permeability, apparently due to their binding to the negatively charged proteoglycan matrix [23].

2.3. Ocular formulations

Ophthalmic topical drug forms are one of the most important and widely developed areas of pharmaceutical technology. This dosage form can be classified by physical properties as liquid, semisolid and solid. The most common dosage forms are eye drops and semisolids, such as ointments or gels, but the number of solid formulations in the form of inserts is increasing and providing encouraging therapeutical results.

2.3.1. Eye drops

Eye drops are the most common ocular formulation currently available on the market. The vehicle used for its formulation can be aqueous or of an oily nature, and it can be a solution, emulsion or suspension of one or more drugs. When stored in multiuse packaging, it usually contains preservatives. These forms are sterile and isotonic. Ideally, the pH of the formulations is within the pH range of the eye; between 6.6 and 7.8 [25].

Eye drops afford low bioavailability of the active substances. In fact, it is known that of the total amount of drug administered, only up to 5 % reaches the aqueous humor [3]. Following administration, the precorneal film is the first zone to come into contact with the eyedrop. The volume of the precorneal film is between 7 μ l and 10 μ l [26]. When a drop is administered to the eye, results in most of the drop rolling down the cheek, while the rest flows into the nasolacrimal duct, through which is rapidly eliminated. Additionally, the administration of any preparation to the eye causes a tear reaction that dilutes the remaining volume [15].

2.3.2. Semisolid ophthalmic preparations

Semisolid ophthalmic preparations are sterile ointments, creams or gels designed to be applied to the conjunctiva. They contain one or more active principles dissolved or dispersed in an appropriate base. The vehicle of such preparations should meet a number of requirements; as the formulation comes into contact with the mucosa, especially in the cornea, the carrier needs to have good extensibility [27].

The major disadvantages of these preparations are the difficulty with which they are administered adequately, and the blurred vision generated when the formulation is on the ocular surface [27].

2.3.3. Ocular inserts

Inserts are solid or semisolid dosage forms placed in the upper or lower cul-desac and in some cases directly into the cornea [27]. They are generally composed of an active substance reservoir embedded in a matrix or attached to a membrane that controls the release rate. The active compound, which is more or less soluble in physiological fluids, is released over a period of time. It is possible to obtain a zero order kinetic in the active compound release. This allows the use of a smaller dose of active ingredient than with eye drops, thus reduces the occurrence of unwanted side effects [3].

These systems can be insoluble devices that need to be removed after a given period of time, or they can be designed to dissolve, erode or biodegrade at the ocular surface (Table 1).

Table 1. Some ocular	insert d	levices.
----------------------	----------	----------

Devices	Characteristics
Ocusert ®	Formulated with a EVA membrane (poly ethylene-vinyl acetate) and pilocarpine [28]. Used for the treatment of ocular hypertension, commercialized since 1974.
Ocufit SR [®]	Rod-shaped, it is made from silicone elastomers and comes in various sizes. Its advantages are a low risk of expulsion and good compatibility with cell membranes.
MiniDisc®	Ocular therapeutic system. It shaped contact lens and does not require great skill to insert it [29]. Produces non-erodible hydrophobic and hydrophilic systems and erodible devices based on hydroxypropyl cellulose.
NODS®	"New Ophthalmic Delivery System" That is a film of polyvinyl alcohol that is attached to the lower conjunctival sac and is slowly dissolved.
Mydriasert [®]	Insoluble device used to induce mydriasis during surgery or for examination of the fundus.

The polymers that are most employed in the formulation of soluble inserts are methylcellulose and its derivatives; namely, hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC), ethylcellulose, polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP), polyvinyl alcohol, chitosan and its derivatives, such as carboxymethyl chitosan, gelatin, and various combinations of the aforementioned polymers [27]. All these components provide the formulation with favourable properties and are totally compatible with the eye surface.

The principal advantages and disadvantages of the ocular inserts are shown in

Table 2.

Table 2. Advantages and disadvantages of ocular inserts [30].

Advantages
Increased residence time/bioavailability.
Precision dosing with controlled release, avoids pulsate drug delivery.
Minimal systemic absorption.
✓ Low administration frequency.
Conjunctiva/sclera route to internal target.
Better shelf life and no preservatives.
Combinational therapeutic approaches.
Disadvantages
Physical and psychological obstacles of placing solid objects on the eye, foreign body
ensation.
X Movement around the eye can interfere with vision.
× Potential accidental loss.
✗ Some devices difficult to insert or remove.
Potential burst release upon insertion prior to controlled delivery

2.4. Conjunctivitis

Conjunctivitis is the most common eye disease. The term conjunctivitis refers to inflammation of the conjunctiva, regardless of the cause. It is normally present as a bilateral infection and is benign and self-limiting, but proximity to the cornea can sometimes cause injuries to this tissue (keratoconjuntivitis). Depending on the duration of this condition it can be classified as acute or chronic [31].

There are two aetiologies; non-infectious and infectious (Table 3).

Aetiology	Classification		
	Allergic (immunological reaction).		
Non-infectious	No allergic (toxins, permanent irritation		
	or other diseases).		
	Bacterial, which can be acute, hyperacute		
Infectious	and inclusion.		
	Viral.		

Table 3. Classification of conjunctivitis depending on the aetiology of the disease.

For treatment of bacterial conjunctivitis we have a large arsenal of antibiotics for topical use presented in the form of eye drops or ointment. As a general rule eye drops are used every 3 hours or 4 hours and ointments every 6 hours or 8 hours. Ointments provide a higher concentration of the drug over a longer period of time, but their use during the day is limited, since they cause blurred vision. They can be used overnight to achive an effective drug concentration during sleep.

The most commonly used antibiotics are the following groups [32,33]:

<u>Quinolones</u>. Fluoroquinolones are used in ophthalmology, and include ciprofloxacin, ofloxacin, norflaxacin, lomefloxacin and moxifloxacin (Mox). They exert activity against gram negatives, gram positives and even mycobacteria. As a topical treatment they are indicated for the treatment of conjunctivitis, blepharitis and bacterial keratitis.

<u>Aminoglycosides</u>, as gentamicin and tobramycin, are actives against aerobic gram negative bacilli, staphylococci and mycobacterium. These compounds could present toxicity in the corneal epithelium.

<u>Tetracycline</u>, as oxytetracycline, doxycycline and tetracycline. They cover a wide spectrum, including gram positive, gram negative, some anaerobic bacteria and other germs including spirochete *Mycoplasma*, *Chlamydia* and *Rickettsia*.

<u>Macrolides</u>, such as erythromycin and zithromycin, exert potent antibacterial activity on most gram-positive cocci, many anaerobic bacteria and gram-positive bacilli. They are often used for blepharitis and blepharoconjunctivitis.

2.4.1. Moxifloxacin

Moxifloxacin is a fourth-generation fluoroquinolone with a methoxy group at the C-8 position and a bulky C-7 side chain that is used for the treatment of conjunctivitis [6] (Table 4). It is a hydrophilic molecule (log P_{oct/wat} = 0.95) [7]. Its mechanisms of action are inhibition of the DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV required for replication repair and recombination of bacterial DNA [34]. Mox exerts similar *in-vitro* activity against gramnegative bacteria such as ciprofloxacin and ofloxacin and an enhanced activity against gram-positive bacteria, including *S. Aureus* [6,34–36].

This drug is capable of penetrating deep into the ocular tissues (cornea and conjunctiva), with concentrations detected in the aqueous and vitreous humor. It does

not contain preservatives (benzalkonium chloride), which affords greater security at the ocular surface.

Moxifloxacin			
Chemical name	1-Cyclopropyl-6-fluoro-7-((4aS,7aS)-hexahydro-1H-pyrrolo[3,4- b]pyridin-6(2H)-yl)-8-methoxy-4-oxo-1,4-dihydroquinoline-3- carboxylic acid		
Chemical structure			
Molecular Formula	C ₂₁ H ₂₄ FN ₃ O ₄		
Molecular weight	401.43 g/mol		
Lipophilia	log P _{oct/wat} = 0.95		
Solubility	In water, 1146 mg/l at 25 °C		

Table 4. Chemical information of moxifloxacin obtained from PubChem 152946.

Currently, it is only marketed for topical ocular use as eye drops - Vigamox[®] (5 % mg/ml, eye drops solution, Alcon Cusí, S.A.) - with an administration regime (8 hours) that is disruptive for patients and sometimes associated with corneal epithelium toxicity [37]. To overcome this limitation, ocular inserts containing Mox could be a good alternative dosage form treatment.

2.5. Retinitis pigmentosa

The disease named retinitis pigmentosa (RP) is a genetically and phenotypically heterogeneous family of inherited blinding diseases that result in selective photoreceptor cell death. Inherited retinal degeneration is a broad term applied to dystrophies including RP.

The main symptoms of RP include progressive loss of visual functions with nightblindness or nyctalopia, which results from rod photoreceptor degeneration (typically, rod photoreceptor cells permit vision under dim light conditions). As rod cells die, cone photoreceptor viability (the source of high-resolution color vision in daylight), is compromised and the disease progresses towards loss of peripheral fields, tunnel vision and finally blindness. Other characteristic features include pigmentary deposits in advanced RP and attenuation of the retinal blood vessels [38].

Despite the diversity of retinal degeneration disorders, apoptosis of photoreceptors seems to be a feature common to all [38]. The signaling pathways of apoptosis in photoreceptor cell death are still not fully understood, but it has been postulated that oxidant-antioxidant balance is involved in the apoptotic process.

Production of free radicals has been related to RP [39] and other diseases. These radicals can directly or indirectly affect several cellular and physiological mechanisms, and can lead to alterations of vial molecules.

An antioxidant is defined as any substance which, when present at low concentrations compared to the oxidizable substrate, significantly delays or prevents oxidation of that substrate [40]. The term "oxidizable substrate" includes almost any macromolecule found in living cells, such as proteins, lipids, carbohydrates and DNA.

Detoxification of oxygen free radicals is a prerequisite for aerobic life, so an important antioxidant defense system has been developed [41]. Antioxidant, such as glutathione, arginine, citrulline, taurine, creation, selenium, zinc, vitamin E, vitamin C (Vit C), vitamin A and tea polyphenols, help to regulate the reactive oxygen species thus generated. Antioxidant defense is further supported with antioxidant enzymes; e.g. superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione reductase and glutathione peroxidase [42].

Antioxidants are classified as exogenous (natural or synthetic) or endogenous.

Natural antioxidant systems are sorted into two major groups: enzymatic and non-enzymatic. Enzymatic antioxidants are comprised of a limited number of proteins, such as catalase, glutathione peroxidase and superoxide dismutase, along with some supporting enzymes. Non-enzymatic antioxidants include direct acting antioxidants, which are extremely important in defense against oxygen free radicals.

Increasing evidence suggests that oxidative stress contributes to the pathogenesis of many retinal degenerative disorders, including age-related macular degeneration, glaucoma, diabetic retinopathy, and light damage [43–47]. This is further supported by reports which show that oxidative damage is present in cone

photoreceptor degeneration [48–50]. It has been shown that antioxidants decrease cone photoreceptor cell death in different mouse models of RP [51].

2.5.1. Therapeutic strategies in retinitis pigmentosa

Several strategies to preserve visual functions are being studied in different RP animal models. They comprise transplantation of stem cells, retinal pigmented epithelium or retina, delivery of a large number of neuroprotective cytokines, gene therapy including replacement of missing proteins or removal of harmful molecules, implantation of subretinal or epiretinal chips or cortically based [52–54].

At present, scientific research is currently focused on two ways to find a cure for inherited retinal diseases such as RP: replacement and rescue. Replacement approaches include different techniques to substitute degenerating or lost photoreceptors. On the other hand, the rescue strategy aims at preserving or prolonging the life-span of affected photoreceptor cells; this approach includes neuroprotection, some genetherapies and the use of antioxidants.

2.5.1.1. Antioxidants

It has been reported in epidemiological studies that many antioxidant compounds possess anti-inflammatory, antitherosclerotic, antitumor, antimutagenic, antcarcinogenic, antibacterial and antiviral activities to greater or lesser extent [55].

Several studies have shown that the use of antioxidants *in-vitro* and *in-vivo* delays the photoreceptor degeneration process significantly in different RP animal models [50,51,56].

Komeima *et al* 2007 showed that antioxidants (α -tocopherol, ascorbic acid, Mn (III) tetrakis (4benzoic acid) porphyrin, and α -lipoic acid) decrease cone photoreceptor cell death in different mouse models of RP [57].

Other researchers have also reported significant protection when antioxidants are administered while rods are dying; specifically by using a combination of antioxidants (zeaxantin, lutein, α -lipic acid and glutathione) that drastically reduced the number of rod photoreceptors displaying oxidatively damaged DNA and delayed the

degeneration process significantly in rd1 mice [56]. A similar treatment [47] increased glutathione peroxidase activity and glutathione (GSH) levels and decreased cysteine concentrations in rd1 retinas.

GSH is an important antioxidant that protects against injury by reducing peroxides in a reaction catalyzed by glutathione peroxidase (Table 5). It can be used to detoxify reactive aldehydes generated from lipid peroxidation and can support detoxification of free radicals by Vit C and vitamin E dependent mechanisms.

	Glutathione		
Chemical	(2S)-2-amino-5-[[(2R)-1-(carboxymethylamino)-1-oxo-3-		
name	sulfanylpropan-2-yl]amino]-5-oxopentanoic acid		
Chemical			
structure	Ŭ , Ŭ Į H Ŭ		
	HO		
	ŇH₂ ⊓ O		
Molecular	CHN.O.S		
Formula			
Molecular	207.22 g/mal		
weight	507.52 g/1101		
Lipophilia	log P = -6.4		
Solubility	295.5 mg/ml		

Table 5. Chemical information of glutathione obtained from PubChem 124886.

3. Transdermal administration

3.1. Skin structures

The skin is a complex multilayered organ, with a surface area of 1.6 m² [58], a weight of approximately 4 kg and an acidic pH surface (5.2) [59]. It forms a physical barrier to the environment and performs four essential body functions: retention of moisture; prevention of permeation or loss of other body molecules; protection from microbes and harmful external influence, temperature regulation and sensation [60].

The structural layers of the skin are the **hypodermis**, the **dermis** and the **epidermis** (Figure 5). Skin is considered a dynamic organ in a constant state of change, as cells of the outer layers are continuously shed and replaced by inner cells moving up to the surface [60].



Figure 5. Schematic representation of human full skin obtained from reference <u>www.carecreations.basf.com.</u>

The **hypodermis**, located between the overlying dermis and the underlying body, is an important depot of fat. This layer of adipose tissue serves principally to insulate the body and to provide mechanical protection against physical shock.

The **dermis** is the deeper layer providing the structural support of the skin. Is made up of fibroblasts, which produce collagen (70 % of the dermis giving it strength and toughness [61]), elastin (maintains normal elasticity and flexibility) and structural proteoglycans (provide tensile strength, viscosity and hydration [61]), together with immunocompetent mast cells (T cells) and macrophages [61]. Embedded within the fibrous tissue of the dermis are the dermal vasculature, lymphatics, nervous cells and fibres, sweat glands, hair roots and small quantities of striated muscle. If a molecule is able to reach this vasculature it is absorbed and is incorporated into the general circulation of the body. It protects the body from mechanical injury, retains water, provides thermal regulation and includes receptors of sensory stimuli. The dermis has structures embedded within it: blood and lymphatic vessels, nerve endings,

pilosebaceous units (hair follicles and sebaceous glands) and sweat glands (eccrine and apocrine) (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Magnified detail of hair follicle.

The **epidermis** is the outer layers of the skin, and serves as the physical and chemical barrier between the interior body and exterior environment. It is considered a stratified squamous epithelium formed by five separate layers (*stratum basale, stratum spinosum, stratum granulosum, stratum lucidum* and *stratum corneum*) (Figure 7).



Stratum corneum Stratum lucidum Stratum granulosum Stratum spinosum Stratum basale

Figure 7. Structural microscopy of epidermis obtained from reference <u>www.eucerin.com</u> (Eucerin[®]).

The different layers of the epithelium are composed basically of four types of cells: keratinocytes (that will end forming the stratum corneum), melanocytes (pigment

forming cells), Merkel cells (responsible of light-touch response and immunoreactivity) and Langerhans cells (immune system) [62]. The epidermis presents a thickness of 75 μ m - 150 μ m in humans [63].

The stratum corneum is considered the main natural physical [64] and waterretaining barrier of the skin. This layer is formed by over 10 - 30 layers of keratinocytes that can absorb three times their weight in water [64]. The thickness of the stratum corneum is 10 μ m - 20 μ m in humans [63]. In order to maintain a constant stratum corneum thickness, the external part of the stratum corneum is continuously shed in a process called desquamation (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Magnified detail of the stratum corneum.

3.2. Routes of transdermal absorption

The administration of drugs via the transdermal pathway is becoming a regular option, ranking with oral treatments as the most successful innovate research area in the field of drug delivery [65]. Transdermal formulations are usually easy to use, increasing patient compliance with the treatment and therefore its efficacy, especially when the drug in question has a short half-life. Another advantage of this route of administration is a reduced first-pass metabolism with respect to oral administration, which makes this administration route especially useful for drugs that undergo high hepatic extraction when administered orally [65] (Table 6). **Table 6.** Benefits and restrictions associated with transdermal dosage forms.

Advantages

✓ Avoids direct damage of the gastrointestinal mucosa and first pass metabolism linked to oral administration.

✓ Provides less fluctuation of drug levels and reduces the frequency of dosages.

✓ Reduces side effects associated with peak of drug concentrations.

✓ Improves patient acceptance and compliance.

✓ Useful if there is gastrointestinal distress, disease, or surgery.

✓ Great flexibility of dosage.

 \checkmark Allows easy dose termination in the event of any adverse reactions, whether local or systemic.

✓ Does not cause physical or psychological pain.

✓ Provides an alternative in diseases and disorders of the central nervous system.

✓ May reduce overall healthcare treatment costs.

Disadvantages

X A low melting point (good solubility properties) with sufficient aqueous and lipid solubility is required for the permeant to traverse the stratum corneum.

X Skin is an excellent barrier against large, hydrophilic and polar compounds; thus, a log $P_{oct/wat}$ of approximately 2 is required.

★ Drug diffusivity, in general, is size-dependent. A molecular weight of less than 500 Da is essential if there is to be diffusion across the stratum corneum.

X Some drugs can irritate or sensitize skin.

X Drugs may be metabolised by bacteria on the skin surface, and the presence of enzymes, such as peptidases and estereases, can metabolise the drug in the skin to an inactive product.

 $\boldsymbol{\mathsf{X}}$ Lack of equivalence of this administration method compared to other routes of administration.

X Lipophilic drugs can accumulate in a skin depot so that they need an extended period of time to be depleted (e.g. fentanyl transdermal dosage form).

 $\boldsymbol{\mathsf{X}}$ High intra- and inter-variability associated with the permeability of intact and diseased human skin.

Currently, very few drug candidates have been considered to have the appropriate physicochemical properties to be approved for transdermal delivery; namely a low melting point (< 150 °C; related with solubility), low molecular weight (< 500 Daltons) [66] and intermediate lipophilicity (octanol-water partition coefficient (log P_{oct/wat} between -1 to 4) [67] as well as a high potency (total daily dose < 10 mg).

Transdermal drug administration is not free from disadvantages. Generally, the stratum corneum is considered to limit the rate of transdermal drug absorption. The natural structure of the stratum corneum controls the diffusion of outer molecules and water loss from inside the body. In addition, external substances can be degraded when in contact with the skin because of the proteases expressed by its microflora [61]. Due to this natural body barrier, the passive diffusion of drugs is usually not sufficient to reach therapeutical plasma levels (Table 6).

There are multiple potential phases that occur between application of a molecule to the skin surface and its appearance in the systemic circulation. Based on the physiology of the skin, three possible pathways exist for passive transport of drug molecules through the skin to the vascular network: intercellular diffusion through the lipid lamellae; transcellular diffusion through both keratinocytes and lipid lamellae; or diffusion through the sweat ducts via the hair follicles and sebaceous glands (collectively called the shunt or appendageal route). The appendages route covers only 0.1 % of the whole skin surface area, and thus does not contribute significantly to absorption [68]. The choice of pathway is influenced mainly by the physicochemical properties of the compound (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Major routes of penetration through the skin: transepidermal (1) and transapendicular through the pilosebaceous follicles (2) and sweat glands (3). Obtained from reference <u>www.skin-care-forum.basf.com</u>.

Because of the stratum corneum's structure, two penetration pathways are possible: the intercellular route and the transcellular route (Figure 10). In the case of intercellular absorption, substance transport occurs within the lipid bilayer structure of the stratum corneum and is currently the predominantly used pathway [68]. The selection of drug candidates for potential transdermal delivery is generally based on both the physicochemical and the pharmacokinetic characteristics of a given drug.

The evaluation of drug permeation across the stratum corneum in preformulation studies is necessary to develop transdermal drug dosage forms.





Drug permeation across the stratum corneum obeys Fick's first law, where the amount of a material passing through a unit area per unit time (its flux) is proportional to the concentration gradient measured across the section (Equation 1), where J is the flux of the drug, D is the diffusion coefficient of the drug in the stratum corneum, dC/dx is the concentration gradient and C is the concentration of diffusing substance and x the space co-ordinate.

Equation 1.

$$J = -D\frac{dC}{dx}$$

After a sufficient period of time, steady-state permeation is achieved. Under these conditions, Equation 1 can be simplified to Equation 2.

Equation 2.

$$J_{SS} = \frac{C P D}{H}$$

where J_{SS} is the steady-state flux of the drug, P is the partition coefficient between the stratum corneum and the vehicle and H is the diffusion path length or membrane thickness (Equation 2).

However, the Fick's first law does not consider non-steady state diffusion processes. Under such conditions, Fick's second law of diffusion (derived from Fick's first law) is applied (Equation 3).

Equation 3.

$$\frac{dC}{dt} = D\frac{d^2C}{dx^2}$$

3.3. Transdermal formulations

According to the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA), topical dosage forms can be divided into different groups (Table 7) [70].

Tabl	e 7. Some	dosage	forms	according to	the FDA,	adapted	from re	ference	[70]]
------	------------------	--------	-------	--------------	----------	---------	---------	---------	------	---

Semisolid and solid dosage forms	Liquid dosage forms	Other forms
Cream and ointment	Emulsion	Transdermal system
Gel	Lotion	
Paste	Solution	
Powder	Spray	
	Suspension	

Creams and ointments are generally used for topical application and are semisolid preparations in which solid or liquid substances are dispersed. The vehicle contains > 20 % water and volatiles and/or < 50 % hydrocarbons, polyols, or waxes. The consistency and rheological characteristics of creams depend on the emulsion type (oil in water or water in oil) and the physicochemical properties of the solids used [70].

A **gel** is a clear preparation consisting of a liquid phase (solution or colloidal dispersion) within a three-dimensional polymeric matrix caused by the addition of a gelling agent. It may contain suspended particles. Gels can be divided into hydrophobic and hydrophilic gels [70].

Pastes are generally intended for topical application. They are preparations with high concentrations of insoluble solids (20 % - 50 %) in a fatty vehicle [70].

Powders represent a mixture of drugs and/or chemicals, which are of a dry and finely divided nature [70].

Emulsions are characterized by at least two liquids that are immiscible so that one component is dispersed in droplets within the other component. Thus, emulsions are special two-phase dosage forms. Stability is given by the addition of at least one emulsifier [70].

Lotions are generally intended for topical application. They are emulsions in a liquid dosage form [70].

A **solution** is clear and homogeneous. It may contain more than one chemical dissolved in one solvent or a mixture of miscible solvents [70].

A **spray** is characterized by a liquid divided into small components by a jet of air or steam [70].

A **suspension** contains a liquid vehicle as the basis, in which solid particles are dispersed in [70].

In contrast with solutions and powders, which lack staying power (retention time) on the skin, semisolid formulations (ointments, creams, gels and pastes) are the preferred vehicles for dermatological therapy because they remain in contact with the skin for a longer period [71].

3.3.1. Transdermal drug delivery systems

A transdermal drug delivery system is a solid and flexible pharmaceutical preparation of varying sizes, containing one or more active substances. They are intended to be applied to unbroken skin in order to deliver the active substance(s) that, after passing through the skin, reach the systemic circulation over a controlled period of time. In addition, transdermal drug delivery systems can provide therapeutic concentrations of a drug for extended periods of time [65].

The primary difference between a topical liquid or a gel formulation and a transdermal system is that the rate of drug absorption of the former is controlled by diffusion through the stratum corneum, while that of the latter is controlled by release from the system itself [72].

All TS follow one of two basic design principles: the reservoir type and the drugin-adhesive type (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Transdermal delivery systems: the reservoir type (A) and the drug-in-adhesive type (B).

The reservoir type contains an occlusive backing layer that facilitates systemic efficacy by increasing skin hydration and temperature, a drug reservoir layer where the drug is stored, a rate-controlling membrane that limits the amount of drug released from the drug reservoir, a contact adhesive layer that ensures that the TS clings on to the skin while the drug is being delivered, and a protective peel strip that stops the drug from leaking out before it is applied the skin and is removed prior to applying the TS onto the skin.

In the case of the drug-in-adhesive type, the layers of the drug reservoir, the controlled release membrane and the adhesive are combined to create a single polymeric layer of drug/adhesive, hence reducing the thickness of the TS [73].

3.4. Enhancer strategies

Different skin penetration enhancement techniques have been developed to increase the range of drugs for which topical and transdermal delivery is a viable option [74]. The bioavailability improvement that these enhancement strategies aim to achieve differ in the way in which they interact with and influence the stratum corneum [74].

Passive enhancers include the use of saturated and supersaturated systems, prodrugs and metabolic approachs, ion-pairs, chemical enhancers, eutectic systems, and liposomes and other vesicles. Active enhancement methods, iontophoresis,

electroporation, ultrasounds, laser radiation and photomechanical waves and microneedles, among other physical techniques, involve the use of external energy as a driving force and/or to overcome the barrier of the stratum corneum [69].

This thesis will focus on iontophoresis and microporation.

3.4.1. Iontophoresis

Transdermal iontophoresis is defined as the application of an electrical potential that maintains a constant electric current across the skin (typically 0.5 mA/cm²) and enhances the delivery of ionized and unionized molecules [12].

The drug is applied under an electrode of the same charge as the drug, while an indifferent counter electrode is positioned elsewhere on the body. Therefore, when the current is applied, and following the rule that like charges repel and opposite charges attract [75], the active electrode effectively repels the active substance and forces it across the skin [75] (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Transdermal iontophoresis scheme. Adapted from reference [76].

The two main mechanisms governing during iontophoretic delivery are electromigration (EM) (J_{EM} ; EM flux) for charged molecules and electroosmosis (EO) (J_{EO} ; EO flux) for neutral molecules. Therefore, the total flux (J_{TOT}) during iontophoretic delivery can be defined as Equation 4.

Equation 4.

$$J_{TOT} = J_{EM} + J_{EO}$$

EM describes the direct effect of the applied electric field on the charged species present in the formulation, and is considered the principal contribution to drug transport [77–79]. With the electromigration/electrorepulsion flow a charged ion is repelled from an electrode with the same charge. The following equation describes the dependency of the transdermal flux of each ion when the current is applied [80] (Equation 5).

Equation 5.

$$J_{EM} = \frac{tn I}{F z}$$

Where tn is the transport number (fraction of the total passing current carried by a specific ion), I is the current intensity, F is Faraday's constant (96484 colombs/mol) and z is the valence of the molecule. As can be referred from the above equation, flux is directly proportional to the applied current.

However, iontophoretic delivery is not dependent on current alone. Conservation of charge requires the sum of the electrical current carried by each ion to equal the total electrical current supplied by the power source. This means that the drug competes with all the other ions present in the system [80], implying that the iontophoretic transport of chemicals is influenced by the composition of the donor phase as well as of the acceptor phase.

EO has its origin in the fact that the skin is a negatively charged membrane at physicological pH and therefore acts as a permselective membrane for cations. This preferential passage of counterions induces an EO solvent flow that carries neutral molecules in the anode-to-cathode direction [80] (Equation 6).

Equation 6.

$$J_{EO} = C v$$

The drug flux due to the EO mechanism is proportional to the concentration of the solute and to the solvent flow (v), which is proportional to the potential gradient established by the electric field [81].

3.4.2. Electroporation

Stratum corneum ablation can be classified as laser, suction or thermal, the last of the three techniques being the most common. Laser ablation uses high-powered thermal pulses with wavelengths similar to the main absorption peak of water or tissue proteins; the matching wavelengths cause vibrational heating, which vaporizes the stratum corneum through microexplosions [82,83] (Figure 13).



Figure 13. Detail of laser pattern and a transversal section of the skin.

Its application to the skin has been shown to increase transdermal drug delivery by several orders of magnitude. Moreover, electroporation, used alone or in combination with other enhancement methods, expands the range of drugs (from small to macromolecules, lipophilic or hydrophilic, charged or neutral molecules) which can be delivered transdermally. The efficacy of transport depends on the electrical parameters and the physicochemical properties of the drug. Under electroporation stratum corneum resistance drops immediately and the electric field distributes the drug deeper into the tissues. Although *in-vivo* application of high voltage pulses is well tolerated, muscle contractions are usually induced. Electroporation has been extensively studied in animals, but its effects in humans have received limited attention. The design of the electrode and patch is an important factor in reducing the discomfort caused by electrical treatment in humans [84].

3.5. Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is a mental illness. The disease can occur as a schizophrenic or psychotic episode that lasts a short time and leaves no negative symptoms (i.e., loss of

normal functions/activities that characterize healthy people), or as chronic schizophrenia, in which case the manifestations of the illness are maintained over time, when reappear late as negative symptoms appear. Thus, the course of the disease can be divided into three phases:

The **first phase** or premorbid or prodromal phase. This is the period preceding the onset of the disease. Sometimes, sick children seem lonely, quiet, underachieving. Shortly before the onset of the first episode, excitability, anorexia, anhedonia, difficulty concentrating, insomnia, depression and isolation may appear, among other symptoms.

The **second phase** or active phase or progression. This phase develops when the disease begins, episode or crisis. Symptoms that do not appear in healthy people (positive symptoms), such as delusions, hallucinations. It is at this stage that the patient is usually diagnosed. The episodes can occur suddenly or slowly. The duration of episodes varies between patients, but tends to be of a similar length in the same person. The interval between episodes also varies with each patient.

The **third phase** or residual phase. In which the negative symptoms (inability to function like a healthy person) get worse and the patient's life deteriorates. This phase does not occur in all patients.

Symptoms may begin acutely or gradually, at any age, though their appearance is less common before the age of 10 and after the age of 50. Among the symptoms that schizophrenic patients may experience are the following:

- Hallucinations, false perceptions of the senses that the patient cannot identify and which can be auditory, visual, tactile, taste and smell.
- Delusions, unusual beliefs that are not based on reality and often contradict the evidence.
- Behavioral changes.
- Thought disorder; the patient cannot control the flow of ideas through their mind, eventually believing that their thoughts are controlled by some external "force".

Other symptoms such as anxiety, irritability, insomnia, palpitations, sweating, dizziness.

Some of these symptoms may be more marked, depending on the phase of schizophrenia:

Paranoid schizophrenia. The typical symptoms are anxiety, irritability, anger, violence, paranoia and auditory hallucinations. The patient tends to try to hurt themself or other people in their immediate environment.

Disorganized schizophrenia. Patients suffer disorders that hinder the organization of thought, being manifested in childish behavior. This type usually starts early in life.

Catatonic schizophrenia. Patients have a severe psychomotor impairment which may include inactivity or excessive motor activity, lethargy or apathy, abnormal facial expressions, stereotyped movements, mutism, imitation of what others do or say and little reactivity to other people.

Hebephrenic schizophrenia. Usually begins at 12 or 13 years old. In the early years it is often confused with mental retardation. It is manifested as behavioral disturbances and delusions.

Undifferentiated schizophrenia. Thus, type is characterized by symptoms of various types of schizophrenia, which makes it difficult to classify.

Residual schizophrenia. Patients who suffer from this type do not express all the symptoms. It appears when the symptoms become chronic.

All these disorders of perception and thinking can make it difficult for patients to follow a normal routine [85].

Schizophrenia is often associated with consumption of substances such as alcohol, tobacco, cannabis or cocaine, as this helps individual to counteract some of the symptoms of the disease, such as depression and anxiety [85].

This causes an increase in the metabolism of some pharmacological treatments, such as neuroleptics, which in turn reduces plasma levels and the effect of the drug, resulting in the need to increase the average dose [86].

The treatment of schizophrenia, as with many mental illnesses, must act on several aspects of the disease. Thus, in addition to drug therapy, psychological therapy and family education are recommended. Pharmacological treatment can be given via a large number of drugs that include antipsychotics and benzodiazepines.

Antipsychotic drugs work by blocking D₂ receptors in the brain [87]. These in turn are divided into typical or atypical first generation or second generation antipsychotics. The first group includes haloperidol, chlorpromazine and fluphenazine, among others. These drugs produce a great number of mainly extrapyramidal side effects (such as dystonia, Parkinsonian movements...) [88]. Atypical antipsychotics include clozapine, olanzapine (OLZ) and risperidone. The latter group is usually the first-choice treatment for schizophrenia, because it provides a reduction of extrapyramidal side effects, although other side effects have been associated, such as weight gain, dyslipidemia or agranulocytosis.

Benzodiazepines: The most common drug used in schizophrenia is diazepam, which has a long half-life. Benzodiazepines facilitate transmission of GABA and inhibit dopamine. Benzodiazepine treatment is administered in very high doses to try to reduce arousal disorders of thinking, delusion and hallucinations. They can be used as the sole treatment when patients refuse treatment with antipsychotics or as combination treatment with them [89].

Electro-convulsive therapy may be recommended in cases where drug therapy is ineffective and there is recurrent psychosis. However, due to memory loss and the ability to produce musculoskeletal injuries, as well as the limited benefits it presents, its use has been reduced considerably [90].

3.5.1. Olanzapine

Olanzapine is an atypical antipsychotic drug widely used for both treatment of positive and negative symptoms of schizophrenia in the acute stage and maintenance phase, and also when there is remission of the secondary emotional symptoms of mental disorder and related diseases [14,91] (Table 8).

OLZ was approved by the US-FDA in 1996 and is also used to treat maniacal or mixed episodes of bipolar disorder; however, drug non-compliance and oral side effects are always a problem.

This drug is available as a tablet in varied strengths and as an orally disintegrating wafer that dissolves on the tongue. It is also available as a rapid-acting intramuscular injection for short-term acute use. The latter two dosage forms overcome the poor bioavailablility problems associated with tablets (approximately 40 % of the dose is metabolized by the liver before reaching the systemic circulation) [92].

Table 8. Chemical information of olanzapine obtained from PubChem 4585.

Olanzapine			
Chemical name	2-methyl-4-(4-methylpiperazin-1-yl)-5H-thieno[3,2-		
	c][1,5]benzodiazepine		
Chemical structure	,⊂H₃		
	N N H S CH ₃		
Molecular Formula	C ₁₇ H ₂₀ N ₄ S		
Molecular weight	312.43 g/mol		
Lipophilia	log P _{oct/wat} = 3		
Solubility	In water 39.88 mg/ml at 25 °C		
рКа	4.01; 7.24; 14.17		

4. *Ex-vivo* absorption studies through membranes: ocular and transdermal

The most common technique for measuring *ex-vivo* permeation is the Franz cell system (Figure 14). Several guidelines have been documented by the pharmaceutical and cosmetic industries for its use in skin permeation. It has been used by some authors for ocular permeation.



Figure 14. Franz cell system. 1: Donor compartment; 2: Biological membrane; 3: Receptor compartment; 4: Teflon-coated magnet.

The technique utilizes a sampling cell which contains a donor compartment and a receptor compartment with a sampling port; both portions of the Franz cell are separated by a biological membrane. Once the cell has been mounted, the formulation is added to the top of the cell and samples are taken periodically from the cell receptor. The amounts of drug quantified in the receptor are plotted *versus* time to develop a time-penetration profile.

Different animal skin models have been selected to mimic human skin diffusion behavior; these include primate, porcine, mouse, rat, guinea pig and snake models [93]. Of these, the pig model is the most relevant model of human skin, as its histological and biochemical properties are most similar to those of human skin [94].

In addition, different animal ocular tissue models have been selected to mimic human eye diffusional behavior, including cow, goat, pig and rabbit eyes, though the most common models are pig and rabbit. Rabbit eyes are physiologically very similar to human eyes, and have been used extensively to study corneal permeation [95–101]. Furthermore, it is the most common model for *in-vivo* ocular studies [102,103].

In this type of study there are two different application methods employed for evaluation the penetration through membranes according to the concentration of the drug in the donor compartment (Figure 15).



Figure 15. Infinite (A) and finite (B) dose representations.

In infinite-dose techniques (A), the donor concentration remains constant (\geq 90 % of the initial concentration). These studies are more suitable if the experimental objectives include the evaluation of the mechanism of permeation [104]. On the other hand, if a finite dose technique is employed (B), the donor concentration may show a marked depletion during an experiment, which permits closer stimulation of conditions commonly associated with topical drug use in a human subject [105].

Chapter 4

Ex-vivo rabbit cornea absorption studies with a soluble insert of moxifloxacin for the treatment of conjunctivitis
1. Introduction

Ease of application and patient compliance make topical administration of drugs to the eyes the most common route for the treatment of ocular diseases [2]. However, ocular absorption of topically applied drugs is poor because of inherent anatomical and physiological barriers of the eye [3]. The epithelium represents 90 % of all corneal cells and is a barrier for hydrophilic molecules due to their hydrophobic properties, while the stroma - the next layer - is composed of a highly hydrated extracellular matrix that limits the permeation of lipophilic substances [15].

Topical application of drugs activates the eyes defense mechanisms. One such mechanism is lacrimation, which dilutes and washes away the drug. This mechanism and the aforementioned anatomical barriers reduce drug bioavailability; less than 5 % of the drug administered as eye drops eventually penetrates the inner eye [3]. Ophthalmic inserts could be used to avoid these side effects of ocular administration and to increase drug efficacy. Ocular inserts are solid devices that deliver drugs to the anterior segment of the eye. They come in the form of thin disks or small cylinders made of polymeric material and whose size and shape are specially designed to fit the eye [103,106]. Inserts allow the reduction of systemic absorption and, in some cases, better patient compliance due to a reduced frequency of administration and lower incidence of visual and systemic side effects [4,5].

Conjunctivitis is the most common eye disease and refers to inflammation of the conjunctiva regardless of cause. Most often it involves a bilateral condition with a benign and self-limiting course, but proximity can sometimes produce corneal injury (keratoconjunctivitis). Depending on the course of infection, a distinction is made between acute and chronic conjunctivitis, which differ in duration [107].

Moxifloxacin (Mox) is a fourth generation fluoroquinolone with a methoxy group at the C-8 position and a bulky C-7 side chain that is used for the treatment of conjunctivitis [6]. It is a hydrophilic molecule (log $P_{oct/wat} = 0.95$) [7]. This drug has similar *ex-vivo* activity against gram-negative bacteria such as ciprofloxacin and ofloxacin and an enhanced activity against gram-positive bacteria, including *S. Aureus* [6,34–36].

Mox is commercialized as eye drops with an administration regime (8 hours) that is disruptive for patients and sometimes associated with corneal epithelium toxicity [37]. To overcome this limitation, ocular inserts containing Mox could be a good treatment alternative.

Pawar *et al* (2012) [102] previously prepared an insert of Mox. This insert has been proposed to be good solution for the treatment of conjunctivitis. The biggest difference between this insert and the one proposed in this paper was the solubility of it. The Pawar insert needs to be removed after the treatment where as our soluble insert could be left in place without any additional manipulation after administration.

The aim of the present study is to evaluate the potential of an ocular soluble insert for the controlled administration of Mox, as a way of reduced the number of administration of the drug in a day, with better patient compliance, and increase the remaining time of the drug on the surface of the eye, to provide more effective treatment for conjunctivitis. Furthermore, we set out to analyze the viability of rabbit cornea preserved under different conditions to be used as a membrane for *ex-vivo* ocular absorption assays.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Reagents

Moxifloxacin (Vigamox[®], 5 mg/ml, Alcon Cusí S.A) was composed of moxifloxacin hydrochloride (PubChem: 101526), sodium chloride (NaCl), boric acid, purified water and chloride acid or sodium hydroxide as pH regulators.

The bioadhesive polymers hydroxypropyl methylcellulose 4500 (HPMC), polyvinylpyrrolidone K30 (PVP-K30) and polyethyleneglycol (PEG) and the plasticizer agent glycerin were acquired from Guinama (Valencia, Spain).

High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) grade acetonitrile, ammonium dihydrogen phosphate monobasic and water were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Madrid, Spain).

Phosphate buffered solution (PBS) was composed of disodium hydrogen phosphate, sodium dihydrogen phosphate, sodium chloride and bidestilled water, all of which were supplied by Sigma-Aldrich (Madrid, Spain). The pH of this solution was adjusted to 7.5 ± 0.1 by adding hydrochloric acid 5 N or sodium hydroxide 5 N as required.

Solutions and reagents for hematoxylin-eosin staining, Harris hematoxylin and eosin were acquired from Química Clínica Aplicada (Tarragona, España). Absolute ethanol for cosmetics was obtained from Guinama (La Pobla de Vallbona, España). Xylenol was purchased from WWR International (Fontenay sous Bois, Francia) and Diamount[®] (free assembly through xylenol) from Diapath (Martinengo, Italy).

2.2. Collection and preservation of the study membrane

Whole eyes from two-month-old hybrid albino rabbits of either sex were obtained after sacrifice. Eye balls were rinsed with saline to remove any trace of blood after which, adherent muscle was removed with scissors. Fresh excised corneas were obtained by cutting along the sclera-limbos junction and the individual excised tissues were used for absorption and histological studies [108] (Figure 16).





In order to study their viability in *ex-vivo* absorption studies, the corneas were divided in three different groups according to the different conditions in which they were to be preserved: fresh, -20 °C and -80 °C. The group of fresh corneas was

maintained in PBS (pH 7.4) for up to one hour before initiating the study. The second and third groups of corneas were labeled accordingly and frozen for their future use. They were later defrosted by immersion in PBS and were kept in a buffer until studies began [98].

2.3. *Ex-vivo* ocular absorption studies

Transcorneal absorption of Mox was investigated using vertical standard diffusion cells (Franz type) with a diffusion area of 0.567 cm² ($0.567 \pm 0.008 \text{ cm}^2$) (DISA, Milan, Italy) [97] and fresh or preserved (at -20 °C or -80 °C) rabbit corneas.

To conduct the diffusion assays, the cornea was placed between the two compartments of the diffusion cell with the epithelium facing the donor compartment.

The receptor compartment of the diffusion cells – with a volume of 4.2 ± 0.1 ml – was filled with PBS (pH 7.4) at 37.0 ± 0.1 °C and stirred by a rotating Teflon-coated magnet in order to prevent possible boundary layer effects. When everything was prepared, the donor compartment was filled with 1 ml of Mox solution (Vigamox[®]).

During the 180 minutes assay, 200 μ l samples were taken manually from the receptor chamber at predetermined time intervals; every 15 minutes during the first hour, and then every 30 minutes during the next 2 hours [96]. The volume of sample taken was immediately replaced with the same volume of fresh PBS, thus ensuring sink conditions in the receptor compartment [109,110].

2.4. Instrumentation and chromatographic conditions

A Waters system equipped with a Waters 1525 Binary HPLC Pump (including a Waters 2998 Photodiode Array Detector) and a Waters 2707 Autosampler were employed for HPLC analysis. Acquisition and treatment of computerized data were performed with Waters[®] Breeze 2 software.

Chromatographic separation of the components was achieved at room temperature (25 ± 2 °C) using a Kromasil[®] C18 (250×4.0 mm) reverse-phase column packed with 5 µm C18 silica particles.

A mixture of aqueous solution of ammonium dihydrogen phosphate monobasic (0.05 M, pH 2.5) - acetonitrile (80:20, v/v) pumped at a flow rate of 1 ml/min was used as a mobile phase. A volume of 50 μ l was injected into the HPLC and absorbance was measured at 295 nm.

This analytical method has previously been validated for Mox determination by Srinivas *et al* (2008) [111].

2.5. Data analysis

Data were expressed as the mean \pm SD. Results were evaluated statically using analysis of variance (one way - ANOVA). Post-hoc multiple comparison tests were performed with the Dunnett T3, since experimental data were found to be heteroscedastic (p < 0.05).

2.6. Histological studies

To carry out the histological examination the corneas were cut into 4 μ m – thick slices that were subsequently dyed with hematoxylin – eosin staining. The slices were then covered with drops of hematoxylin for 3 minutes after which, they were rinsed with tap water for 5 minutes, covered with eosin for 1 minute, and then rinsed again with running tap water for a further 5 minutes. The slices were dehydrated by bathing them successively in ethanol of increasing concentrations: 70 % (1 minute), 96 % (2 minute), and 100 % (two times one minute washes). At the end of the dehydration process, the slices were immersed in two xylene baths for 5 minutes and 2 minutes respectively. Finally, the samples were mounted with Diamount[®] mounting medium. Following this, the morphology of the corneas was studied by microscopic observation, during which the thickness of the epithelium and stroma was measured.

2.7. Preparation and evaluation of the ocular inserts

Three ocular inserts were prepared. Each one was composed of Mox (active component), HPMC, PVP-K30 and PEG as bioadhesive polymers [112] and glycerin as a plasticizer agent (Table 9).

	Insert-1	Insert-2	Insert-3
Vigamox®	20 ml	20 ml	20 ml
	(100 mg of Mox)	(100 mg of Mox)	(100 mg of Mox)
PVP-K30	600 mg	600 mg	1200 mg
НРМС	400 mg	400 mg	800 mg
PEG	0.5 ml	0.5 ml	0.5 ml
Glycerin	25 mg	25 mg	25 mg
Water	30 ml		

Table 9. Components and amounts used for each ocular insert of moxifloxacin.

PVP: polyvinylpyrrolidone. HPMC: hydroxypropyl methylcellulose. Mox: moxifloxacin. PEG: polyethyleneglycol.

All the inserts were prepared using a solvent casting method. For insert-1, the required quantity of polymers was weighed and dissolved in the required amount of water by gentle stirring. The required amount of film-forming agent was then added to the solution under stirring. Vigamox[®] was added at the end. For insert-2 and insert-3, the polymers were added directly to the required amount of drug solution (Vigamox[®]) and the required amount of plasticizer agent was added last, all under stirring conditions.

In the three formulations, the solution containing all the compounds was stirred for 24 hours at room temperature [102,113]. All the inserts were obtained via a lamination method [114].

Briefly the mixtures were laminated on an occlusive backing (ScotchpackTM 9733 backing layer) to a thickness of 600 μ m. The insert was allowed to dry at room temperature in darkness.

For application of the insert, the first step was to remove the backing [115], after which the insert was applied directly to the wet ocular mucosa, at which moment the inserts became bioadhesive.

For insert *ex-vivo* absorption studies method described in point 2.3. of this chapter, was followed and fresh corneas were used as a membrane. An insert with 0.5 cm² surface was placed on the top of the cornea [116].

The external morphology of the ocular insert obtained after the drying process was analised by an optical microscope Leica DM 2000 (20X magnification) with polarized light and photografiated with a Nikon Digital shift Ds-H2 camera.

Moisture uptake was calculated also using 1 cm^2 pieces of the insert. Once completely dried, the inserts were weighed and then exposed to a relative humidity of 75 ± 5 % (100 ml of saturated solution of NaCl) under a dryer until their weight became constant [117].

The water absorption capacity of each insert was calculated as the increase of weight following the assay; Equation 7 [118].

Equation 7.

$$Water uptake (\%) = \frac{final weight - initial weight}{final weight} 100$$

To evaluated moisture loss, six 1 cm² fragments were obtained 24 hours after lamination, when it was possible to separate the lamination from the insert. These fragments were weighed at different times until they reached a constant weight Equation 8.

Equation 8.

$$Moisture \ loss \ (\%) = \frac{initial \ weight - final \ weight}{final \ weight} 100$$

The individual weights and thickness of six 1 cm² inserts were determined using an electronic scale (Sartorius ED124S) and a caliper.

To determinate the content of drug in the insert, three 1 cm^2 pieces of the formulation were solved in 1 ml of PBS in a beaker until they were totally dissolved. 200 µl of the solution was then analised and the amount of Mox of each was determinate.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Viability studies

For ocular permeation studies of Mox, a rabbit cornea *ex-vivo* model was chosen. Rabbit eyes are physiologically very similar to human eyes, and have been extensively used to study corneal permeation [95–101]. Furthermore, it is the most common models for *in-vivo* ocular studies [102,103].

After selecting the membrane model based on the above mentioned criteria, we set out to evaluate if it could be possible to use the tissue after frizzing. For this aim there were performed transcorneal *ex-vivo* absorption studies with moxifloxacin in solution (Vigamox[®]) with the three groups of corneas (fresh, frozen at -20 °C and frozen at -80 °C). It was compared the permeated amounts of Mox in the three conditions. As well it was performed some histological studies of the corneas under the three different conditions.

Figure 17 shows accumulated amounts (μ g/cm²) of Mox in the receiver compartment *versus* time for the three assayed conditions (fresh, -20 °C and -80 °C), which represent the transcorneal kinetics of the absorption of Mox.



Figure 17. Accumulated amounts of moxifloxacin in the receptor compartment (μ g/cm²) as a function of time, obtained from samples of *ex-vivo* transcorneal diffusion of Mox solution with corneas preserved in different conditions (fresh, -20 °C, -80 °C). (Mean ± SD; n ≥ 3) *p < 0.05.

Statistical analysis of the data revealed statistically significant differences between the amounts of Mox accumulated in fresh *versus* frozen corneas at different temperatures (p < 0.05). In contrast, no significant differences were detected between the amounts of Mox accumulated in corneas preserved at -20 °C and -80 °C (p > 0.05).

Histological studies were also performed. Epithelial thickness was measured in the three groups of corneas; an average thickness of $29.72 \pm 4.76 \,\mu$ m was obtained for the fresh corneas, while in the case of the frozen corneas preserved at -20 °C and -80 °C, a thickness of $23.63 \pm 4.31 \,\mu$ m and $22.69 \pm 2.99 \,\mu$ m were obtained, respectively (Figure 18).



Figure 18. Graphical representation of the thickness (μ m) of the **epithelium** of the three different groups: Fresh, frozen at -20 °C and frozen at -80 °C (Mean ± SD; n ≥ 3).

Statistical analysis of the data showed no significant differences (p > 0.05) in epithelial thickness among the three groups.

Stroma thickness was measured in the three cornea groups; average values of $205.70 \pm 8.73 \ \mu\text{m}$ in fresh corneas, $297.40 \pm 10.15 \ \mu\text{m}$ in corneas frozen at -20 °C and $253.32 \pm 15.68 \ \mu\text{m}$ in those frozen at -80 °C were obtained (Figure 19).



Figure 19. Graphical representation of **stroma** thickness (μ m) in the three different groups; fresh, frozen at -20 °C and frozen at -80 °C (Mean ± SD; n ≥ 3) *p < 0.05.

Statistical analysis of the data revealed statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) in the thickness of the corneal stroma between fresh and frozen corneas. However, no significant differences between the two groups of frozen corneas were detected.

Figure 20 illustrates clear morphological differences between fresh and frozen corneas. For example, the difference in the size of the stroma is evident, and the epithelium seems to be degraded in the latter case.



Figure 20. A: Picture at 20X of a fresh cornea. B: Picture at 20X of a cornea frozen at -80 °C.

Chapter 4: Ex-vivo rabbit cornea absorption studies with a soluble insert of moxifloxacin for the treatment of conjunctivitis

Results of *ex-vivo* absorption studies revealed that accumulated permeated amount of Mox at the end of the experiment were much higher in frozen corneas (Figure 17). This could be because Mox is a hydrophilic molecule and epithelium is the main barrier for hydrophilic molecules. This could have been due to degradation of the cornea's structure after freezing and thawing, as previously described in (Figure 19). Histological studies showed that the epithelium was damaged after freezing, so the preservation processes may have affected the absorption of Mox and the results obtained.

Van Der Bijl *et al.* performed 24 hours studies with fresh and frozen (at -80 °C) rabbit and human corneas. They concluded that there was a correlation between rabbit and human corneas, in terms of substance permeation, and they also observed non-significant differences between frozen and fresh corneas of both species. But they think that this process could affect small and hydrophilic molecules. This is in line with our results, and is to be expected given that Mox is a small and hydrophilic drug. Furthermore, our experiments lasted 3 hours, while the aforementioned group recorded data after 2 hours [101]. The duration of the experiment and the sampling time could be factors that give our differences in the final results of the study.

Based on our viability study, we recommend the use of fresh corneas for ophthalmic *ex-vivo* absorption studies, as frozen tissue would seem to present some problems for this type of experiment, depending on the characteristics of the drug.

3.2. Preparation and evaluation of the ocular inserts

Evaluation of the three formulations containing different concentrations of bioadhesive polymers showed that insert-1 and insert-2 were inconsistent and thus invalid for future application, as they could not be laminated. Furthermore, insert-1 provided a lower concentration of drug than insert-2 and insert-3, as shown in Table 9. Because insert-1 had more water apart of the one provide by Vigamox[®] in the formulation.

We concluded that, of the three soluble ocular inserts prepared, insert-3 showed the most potential, as it provided the highest concentration of bioadhesive polymers and the best consistence for lamination (Table 9).

Once prepared, insert-3 was very thin and almost transparent, with a yellowish tinge. Insert-3 was evaluated as described in materials and methods. Other authors used similar procedures to analyze their formulated inserts [102,119–121].

The analysis revealed a completely homogeneous polymer matrix in which the drug was distributed without crystallization.

Once the ocular insert was prepared, and after the drying process, the hygroscopicity of the formulation was determined.

As in other studies of ocular inserts [102], the ability of formulations to capture water was high (29.26 ± 1.45 %), which is beneficial, because, in this way, the insert adheres better to the ocular surface. The adhesiveness of these ocular inserts depends on the moisture they allow. In addition, this ensures that the insert is dissolved when applied to the eye, thereby releasing the active substance it contains.

Following this study it was determined that 24 hours after lamination, the average weight of the inserts was 0.0058 ± 0.0001 g, while a constant weight $(0.0053 \pm 0.0001$ g) was obtained 6 days after lamination. Therefore, the percentage of moisture loss at this time point was 9.88 ± 3.83 %. These results show that the minimum drying time for application is 6 days.

The average weight of the ocular insert after drying was 0.0053 ± 0.0001 g, and its average thickness was 0.050 ± 0.002 mm.

There was little variation between the different areas of the laminated insert. Moreover, our insert is much thinner than those produced by other authors [102,103,122], so its application to the eye will be easier, as it will be less noticeable by the patient. In addition, it weighs less than those formulated by other authors [123].

There were determinated the content of Mox in the insert. Three pieces of 1 cm² of the insert were solved in buffer solution and analised by HPLC. It was found that the average amount of Mox present was 172.86 \pm 9.47 µg/cm².

3.2.1. *Ex-vivo* ocular absorption studies with the selected insert

Figure 21 shows the amounts accumulated in the receiver compartment *versus* time in the *ex-vivo* absorption assays of the formulated ocular insert using fresh cornea.

Chapter 4: Ex-vivo rabbit cornea absorption studies with a soluble insert of moxifloxacin for the treatment of conjunctivitis



Figure 21. Accumulated amounts of moxifloxacin in the receptor compartment (μ g/cm²) as a function of time, obtained after *ex-vivo* transcorneal diffusion of samples with the selected insert. (Mean ± SD; n ≥ 3).

At the end of the experiment the amount of Mox accumulated in the receptor compartment was $26.04 \pm 3.21 \,\mu\text{g/cm}^2$. Other authors have reported that the concentration of Mox in the aqueous humor in the human eye after 60 minutes of ocular administration of a drop is $0.6681 \pm 0.4980 \,\mu\text{g/ml}$ [124]. In our experiments, we observed that $10.68 \pm 4.13 \,\mu\text{g/cm}^2$ of the drug had permeated after 60 minutes. Thus, using an insert of $0.5 \,\text{cm}^2$, and assuming an ocular volume of 6.5 ml. The permeating amount of drug, would be approximately $5.34 \,\mu\text{g}$, a concentration of $0.82 \,\mu\text{g/ml}$. Therefore, with the soluble ocular insert developed in this study higher concentrations could be achived when compared to current commercial pharmaceutical forms such as drops. Furthermore, the dosage of Mox could be easy modified by simply changing the size of the insert.

Chapter 5

Ex-vivo ocular absorption studies with glutathione formulations as antioxidant treatment

1. Introduction

It is suggested that oxidative stress contributes to the pathogenesis of many neurodegenerative disorders, including Retinitis Pigmentosa (RP) and other ocular pathologies [43–46].

RP is a heterogeneous group of inherited retinal degenerative diseases that lead to blindness, and typically involves the progressive loss of rod photoreceptors and, subsequently, cones. In the early stages of the disease there is night blindness followed by a loss of peripheral vision, with a progression over many years that can be very rapid or slow. At present, no effective treatment is available to prevent or cure the disease. It is, therefore, of great importance to find a means to slow down the pathological process in order to delay photoreceptor cell death and total blindness [56].

Oxidative damage is reported to be present in cone photoreceptor degeneration [48,49]. In his context, there are different compounds with variable antioxidant activity that may provide additional protection against increased oxidative stress [125].

Glutathione (GSH) metabolism is implicated in the oxidative stress involved in this disease This drug is an important antioxidant that protects against injury by acting as a reductant of peroxides in a reaction catalyzed by glutathione peroxidase. It can be used to detoxify reactive aldehydes generated from lipid peroxidation and can support detoxification of free radicals by vitamine C (Vit C) and vitamin E dependent mechanisms [126].

Komeima *et al* (2006) showed that injecting a combination of antioxidants (α -tocopherol, ascorbic acid, α -lipoic acid) in a mice model with RP decreased cones photoreceptor cell death [51].

M.M. Sanz *et al* (2007) performed *in-vivo* studies with a mixture of antioxidants administered orally to rd1 mice and containing GSH. Their results showed that the combination of antioxidants slowed down rd1 rod photoreceptor degeneration, indicating an additive or synergistic effect [56].

The findings of the aforementioned studies suggest that GSH is an effective option for delaying or preventing photoreceptor cell death in RP. In addition, GSH is

water soluble, is distributed well throughout the tissue, including nervous tissue, and has the ability to maintain a normal redox status [45].

The most common route for the treatment of ocular diseases is topical administration, as application is easy, patient compliance is high and dosage and secondary effects are minimized [2]. However, the absorption of drugs applied topically to the eye is very poor because of the eye's inherent anatomical and physiological barriers [3]. The main problem is drug bioavailability, which is less than 5% of the drug administrated by drop instillation [3].

Ophthalmic inserts could be used to avoid the side effects of ocular administration and to increase drug efficacy. Ocular inserts are solid or semisolid devices that deliver drugs to the eye [103,106]. Inserts allow for accurate dosing, reduced systemic absorption and, in some cases, better patient compliance due to a reduced frequency of administration and lower incidence of visual and systemic side effects [4,5].

The main aim of this study was to evaluate the possibility of administrating GSH directly to the eye. The secondary objectives were (1) to study the stability of this compound in aqueous solution, (2) to determinate the absorption of GSH by the cornea and sclera, and (3) to develop and evaluate ocular formulations whose composition includes GSH.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Reagents

GSH and Vit C were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Madrid, España).

The iodoacetic acid, potassium hydroxide (KOH), potassium bicarbonate (KHCO₃) and 1-fluoro-2,4-dinitrobenceno (DNFB) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Madrid, España). The m-cresol was purchased from Acros Organics (New Jersey, EE. UU.). The perchloric acid (PCA) was acquainted form Panreac (Barcelona, Spain).

Phosphate buffered solution (PBS) was composed of disodium hydrogen phosphate, sodium dihydrogen phosphate, sodium chloride and bidestilled water, all of which were supplied by Sigma-Aldrich (Madrid, Spain). The pH of this solution was

adjusted to 7.5 \pm 0.1 by adding hydrochloric acid (HCl) 5 N or sodium hydroxide (NaOH) 5 N as required.

Methanol, water and glacial acetic acid for high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) analysis were obtained from J.T. Baker[®] (Deventer, Holanda) and sodium acetate was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Madrid, España). Cellulose membrane filters (pore diameter of 0.2 μ m) were obtained from Sartorius Stedim Biotech (Madrid, España) and Kromasil[®] Amino 5 μ m, 250 x 4.6 mm column was purchased from Análisis Vínicos (Barcelona, España).

The bioadhesive polymers hydroxypropyl methylcellulose 4500 (HPMC), polyvinylpyrrolidone K30 (PVP-K30) and polyethyleneglycol (PEG) and the plasticizer agent glycerin were acquired from Guinama (Valencia, Spain).

2.2. Stability studies

A GSH solution (concentration 5 mg/ml) was stored in different conditions to determine the stability of the compound in aqueous solution. The possibility of adding vitamin C as an antioxidant to inhibit degradation of GSH was also analised. For this purpose the same GSH solution (5 mg/ml) including 3 mg/ml of vitamin C was prepared.

Different temperatures for long-term preservation and the influence of light exposition were studied. Drug stability was evaluated at 25 °C and at 4 °C, in darkness and under light exposition. Samples were withdrawn at days 0 - 2 - 7 - 14 - 30.

2.3. Ocular formulations with glutathione

Two different liquid formulations containing different concentrations of GSH were prepared. For this aim, we used PBS and added different amounts of GSH to obtain 10 mg/ml and 5 mg/ml solutions. The final pH of this solution was adjusted to 6.5 by adding HCl 5 N or NaOH 5 N as required.

Using a solvent casting method we prepared a semisolid ocular insert composed of GSH in a matrix of bioadhesive polymers (HPMC, PVP and PEG) [112], and glycerin as a plasticizer. The required quantity of polymers was weighed and dissolved in the required amount of water by gentle stirring (Table 10). The corresponding amount of plasticizing agent was then added to the solution and was stirred for 24 h at room temperature [102,113]. Finally, GSH was added.

Table 10. GSH ocular insert cor

Component	Amount	
Glutathione	100 mg	
Polyvinylpyrrolidone K30	600 mg	
Hydroxypropyl	400 mg	
mehylcellulose 4500		
Polyehyleneglycol	0.5 ml	
Glycerin	25 mg	
Water	10 ml	

2.4. Study membranes source

Whole eyes from two-month-old hybrid albino rabbits of either sex were obtained after sacrifice [99,100]. Eye balls were rinsed with saline to remove any trace of blood, after which adherent muscle was removed with scissors. Freshly excised corneas and scleras were obtained by cutting along the sclera-limbos junction and the individual excised tissues were used for absorption studies [108] (Figure 16, Chapter 4).

2.5. *Ex-vivo* ocular absorption studies

Transcorneal and transsclera absorption of GSH was investigated using vertical standard diffusion cells (Franz type) with a diffusion area of 0.567 ± 0.008 cm² (DISA, Milan, Italy) [97]. Fresh rabbit cornea or sclera were used as a membrane. Both membranes were used in the study because the target tissue was the retina, which is directly in contact with the sclera.

To conduct the diffusion assays, the membrane was placed between the two compartments of the diffusion cell with the external part facing the donor compartment.

The receptor compartment of the diffusion cells – with a volume of 4.2 ± 0.1 ml – was filled with PBS (pH 7.4) at 37.0 ± 0.1 °C and stirred by a rotating Teflon-coated

magnet in order to prevent possible boundary layer effects. The donor compartment was filled with 0.5 ml of GSH solution (5 mg/ml or 10 mg/ml) or 0.5 ml of the previously obtained semisolid GSH (10 mg/ml) insert.

During the 180 minutes assay, 180 μ l samples were taken manually from the receptor chamber at predetermined time intervals; every 15 minutes during the first hour, and then every 30 minutes during the next 2 hours [96]. The volume of sample removed was immediately replaced with the same volume of fresh PBS, thus ensuring sink conditions in the receptor compartment [95,99,100]. The samples were preserved by adding 20 μ l of PCA in an eppendorf tube for future analysis.

2.6. Determination of glutathione

GSH concentrations in the samples obtained from experiments were determined by the procedure described by Reed *et al* [127]. The method is based on the iodoacetic acid reaction with thiol groups to form carboxymethyl derivatives followed by chromophore derivatization of amino groups with Sanger's reagent (2,4-dinitrofluorobencene). These derivatives are readily separated by HPLC, which allows the quantification of nanomolar levels of GSH.

A Gilson system equipped with Gilson 322 pump, Gilson 150 UV/VIS detector, Gilson 864 degasser and Gilson 234 automatic injector was employed for HPLC analysis. Computerized data were acquired and treated with the Unipoint TM System. The instrumentation components were purchased from Gilson Inc. For the chromatographic separation we used a Kromasil Amino 5 μ m, 250 x 4.6 mm column.

The mobile phase A was prepared with 80:20 methanol:water (v/v) and the mobile phase B was prepared with 20 % of sodium acetate 5 M, glacial acetic acid and water and 80 % of phase A. Subsequently, both phases were filtered through a cellulose membrane filter with a pore diameter of 0.2 μ m.

The initial conditions (1.0 ml/min, 80 % mobile phase A and 20 % mobile phase B) were maintained for 10 minutes and followed by a linear gradient to 95 % mobile phase B for 40 minutes. Finally we rebalanced with the initial conditions for 10 minutes before starting with the next sample analysis. The wavelength used was 365 nm. The range of the UV detector used was 0.005 and the response time was 5 seconds.

The calibration stock solution – 10 mM of GSH in ultra-pure water - was prepared daily and stored in a refrigerator at 4 °C. The solutions used in the derivation process are described in Table 11.

Solution 1	Iodoacetic acid 100 mM	
Solution-1	m-cresol 0.2 mM	
Colution 2	KOH 10 M	
501011011-2	KHCO₃ 3 M	
Solution-3	DNFB (1-fluoro-2,4-dinitrobenzene) 15 % (v/v)	
	Ethanol absolute	

Table 11. Components of the derivatization solutions.

KOH: potassium hydroxide. KHCO₃: potassium bicarbonate. DNFB: 1-fluoro-2,4-dinitrobenceno.

Samples and standards were prepared in 1.5 ml tubes. The calibration curve concentrations of GSH were 0 μ M, 20 μ M, 40 μ M, 60 μ M, 80 μ M and 100 μ M. For these standard preparations, 180 μ l were taken and 20 μ l of perchloric acid 20 % was added to acidify the solution.

The derivatization protocol is shown in Figure 22. Firstly, 40 μ l of the solution-1 was added to the standards and samples. The pH's were then adjusted to 8.5 - 9 with 60 μ l of solution-2 and the tubes were subsequently incubated at room temperature in darkness for 30 minutes. 200 μ l of solution-3 were then added and the tubes were vortexed. Following this, 20 μ l of solution-2 were affixed. Finally, the samples were incubated for at least 4 hours at 4 °C in darkness, after which the tubes were centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was analised with the HPLC equipment. Samples not analised within 24 hours were stored at -20 °C.

Chapter 5: Ex-vivo ocular absorption studies with glutathione formulations as antioxidant treatment



Figure 22. Schema of GSH derivatization protocol. PCA: perchloric acid. Solution-1, Solution-2, Solution-3 were described in Table 11.

2.7. Data analysis

Data were expressed as mean \pm SD. Results were evaluated statistically using analysis of variance (one way - ANOVA) and post-hoc multiple comparison tests (Holm-Sidak test). The level of significance was fixed at p < 0.05.

3. Results and discussion

To perform stability studies of the GSH solutions, different conditions were selected, as explained in section 2.2 of this chapter.

The variation in the percentage of GSH concentration with respect to the initial concentration for the different storage conditions can be observed in Table 12.

	Day	25 °C Light	25 °C Darkness	4 °C Darkness
GSH	2	97.56 ± 3.27	97.30 ± 3.95	99.44 ± 2.35
	7	88.88 ± 1.21	89.37 ± 2.26	99.19 ± 7.78
	14	88.87 ± 1.21	87.44 ± 0.45	98.78 ± 7.29
	30	71.14 ± 0.35	72.92 ± 2.71	92.27 ± 5.78
GSH + Vit C	2	86.81 ± 5.09	95.86 ± 2.54	96.93 ± 8.28
	7	77.17 ± 10.16	86.99 ± 0.39	94.72 ± 6.25
	14	73.87 ± 4.81	78.40 ± 3.00	91.47 ± 4.57
	30	58.71 ± 0.25	64.64 ± 3.20	89.97 ± 1.21

Table 12. Stability results obtained for GSH solution (5 mg/ml) and GSH (5 mg/ml) + Vit C (3 mg/ml) solution. Concentration mean in percentage \pm SD (n = 3).

GSH: glutathione. Vit C: vitamin C.

These results show that the concentration at 30 days was higher than 90 % when the solution was stored at 4 °C without light exposure. However, when we compared this result with that of the GSH + Vit C solution under the same circumstances no significant differences were found (p > 0.05).

In the case of the GSH solutions without Vit C, the final concentration of the samples stored at 25 °C was 90 % after 30 days, with significant differences between day 0 and day 30 (p < 0.05). These results demonstrated that storing the GSH solution at 25 °C in any light condition did not allow adequate preservation.

In the case of the solutions of GSH with Vit C, GSH concentration was below 90 % after 30 days for all the conditions studied. Furthermore, significant differences were found when day 0 and 30 at 25 °C were compared (p < 0.05). These results showed that a temperature of 25 °C with or without light exposition was not a viable option for preservation of a GSH + Vit C solution.

When we compared the two types of solution (GSH and GSH + Vit C) under the same condition significant differences were seen between solutions preserved at 25 °C but not between those stored at 4 °C in darkness (p < 0.05).

We also concluded that vitamin C did not help to preserve the GSH in any of the studied conditions. In the case of the solution preserved at 25 °C with light exposure or darkness the degradation of GSH increased when vitamin C was added. This may have been due to the fact that GSH and Vit C are two antioxidants that work together

physiologically [56], and so the GSH could have preserved the Vit C, though we would need to carry out further studies to test this hypothesis.

Regarding the absorption experiments, Figure 23 and Figure 24 show the absorption profiles revealed by experiments performed with cornea and sclera, respectively.

In Figure 23 we can see that the accumulative amount of GSH in the receptor compartment obtained from the 10 mg/ml and 5 mg/ml solutions were $191.89 \pm 53.44 \ \mu g/cm^2$ and $91.29 \pm 7.97 \ \mu g/cm^2$, respectively, which were significantly different (p < 0.05). A direct relation between the permeated amount and the concentration of the solution can also be seen.



Figure 23. Accumulated amounts of GSH in the receptor compartment (μ g/cm²) as a function of time, obtained from samples employed in *ex-vivo* transcorneal diffusion studies of different solutions. (Mean ± SD; n ≥ 3) *p < 0.05.

The latency period of permeation for the 5 mg/ml solution of GSH was 90 minutes and only 15 minutes with the 10 mg/ml solution. Doubling the concentration reduced the latency period of more than 60 minutes. These results supported the decision to prepare an ocular insert with a concentration of 10 mg/ml.

In Figure 24 we can see that the accumulative amounts of GSH in the receptor compartment obtained from the 10 mg/ml and 5 mg/ml solutions were $596.74 \pm 78.05 \,\mu\text{g/cm}^2$ and $251.29 \pm 57.69 \,\mu\text{g/cm}^2$ respectively. These were significant differences (p < 0.05). The figure also shows a direct relation between the two concentration solutions, as occurred in the studies performed with cornea.

The latency period for the 5 mg/ml solution was 45 minutes, while there was no latency period for the 10 mg/ml solution. This result was of great interest, as the layer under the sclera is the retina, which was our target. These results are supported by Rotman *et al* 2015 and Rip *et al* 2014, who prepared different glutathione PEGylated liposomal formulations for targeting the neuronal tissue [128,129]. As stated by F. Paquet-Durand in ARVO'16, retinal tissue is similar to neuronal tissue, which points to the possibility of GSH being used to target other substances to the retina [130].



Figure 24. Accumulated amounts of GSH in the receptor compartment (μ g/cm²) as a function of time, obtained from samples of *ex-vivo* transscleral diffusion with different solutions. (Mean ± SD; n ≥ 3) *p < 0.05.

The results obtained with the GSH semisolid insert are shown in Figure 25. The accumulative amount of GSH in the receptor compartment in the cornea and sclera were $109.46 \pm 17.61 \ \mu g/cm^2$ and $249.09 \pm 51.17 \ \mu g/cm^2$, respectively. The figure shows that the amount of GSH permeating through the sclera was significantly higher than that permeating through the cornea (p < 0.05).

The insert with a 10 mg/ml GSH concentration provided permeation results similar to those obtained with the 5 mg/ml solution, however the insert was in contact with the ocular surface for longer than the eye drops [4,5], which endorses its potential as a continuous treatment.



Figure 25. Accumulated amounts of GSH in the receptor compartment (μ g/cm²) as a function of time, obtained from samples of *ex-vivo* transcorneal and transscleral diffusion studies with the formulated **insert**. (Mean ± SD; n ≥ 3) *p < 0.05.

In Figure 26 we can see the accumulative amounts of GSH in the receptor compartment after 3 hours for all the studied conditions. If we compare the 10 mg/ml solution with the 5 mg/ml solution and the semisolid insert (10 mg/ml) significant differences are apparent (p < 0.05).



Figure 26. Accumulated amount of GSH in the receptor compartment after 3 hours of experiment (μ g/cm²) obtained from samples of *ex-vivo* transcorneal and transscleral diffusion studies performed with different formulations. (Mean ± SD; n ≥ 3) *p < 0.05.

Moreover, we observed that the amount permeating through the sclera was greater than that permeating through the cornea. This could have been a consequence of the anatomy and physiology of the two tissues. The cornea is a complex tissue with different layers [16] - for example the epithelium and the stroma - which have a different affinity to hydrophilic and lipophilic molecules [15]. This makes it more difficult for the molecule to permeate through this tissue into the internal part of the eye. On the other hand, sclera is composed of a simple layer of collagen fibers [23] and is easily permeate by hydrophilic molecules such as GSH. This could explain the higher latency of penetration with the 5 mg/ml solution and with the insert.

Chapter 6

Transdermal permeation of olanzapine after fractional laser ablation

1. Introduction

Olanzapine (OLZ) is an atypical antipsychotic drug widely used for the treatment of schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and the remission of secondary emotional symptoms of mental disorders and related diseases [14,91].

Considering the non-compliance associated with OLZ oral administration and the inconveniences associated with parenteral administration in patients with mental illnesses, it is necessary to exploit alternative routes of administration, such as transdermal delivery. However, this route has several difficulties, mainly because the stratum corneum limits the cutaneous delivery of molecules [76,131]. Different strategies can be used to improve transdermal delivery, some of which aim to compromise the integrity of the stratum corneum to facilitate the absorption of the molecules. Controlled laser microporation can be used to eliminate the integrity of this barrier [13]. Also available is the painless laser epidermal system (P.L.E.A.S.E.), a novel laser microporation technology [83]. This fractionally ablative Er:YAG laser emits µs pulses at a wavelength of 2936 nm that excite water molecules in the epidermis and dermis, and their explosive evaporation results in the formation of micropores. The absorption of small molecules can be enhanced with this technique [132].

Before performing a permeation study with olanzapine, a specific analytical method must be developed to quantify the amounts of OLZ permeated across and retained by the skin. The samples obtained in the transdermal experiments included endogenous substances released from the skin that may have interfered with subsequent analyses. A review of the literature reveals that different analytical methods have been used to detect OLZ in different situations. Several of the methods and infrastructures used were not available to smaller laboratories [133–149] and others relied on complex sample preparation [150–154].

The aims of this research were (1) to develop and to validate a specific high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) method that can be used for the quantitative determination of OLZ after skin permeation studies; and (2) to study the transdermal delivery of olanzapine to intact skin and after fractional laser ablation as a strategy to increase the permeability of skin to drugs.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Reagents

Olanzapine was purchased from Watsonnoke Scientific. The buffer 2-morpholinoethanesulfonic acid monohydrate (MES) was obtained from Fluka (Buchs, Switzerland). The phosphate buffer saline (PBS) was prepared with disodium hydrogen phosphate, sodium dihydrogen phosphate and sodium chloride, all of which were supplied by Sigma-Aldrich (Buschs, Switzerland). The pH of this solution was adjusted to 7.5 \pm 0.1 by adding hydrochloric acid 5 N or sodium hydroxide 5 N as required.

The polytetrafluoroehylene (PTFE) and nylon filters were obtained from VWR, (Switzerland).

UPLC/MS grade acetonitrile (ACN) was purchased from VWR International AG (Dietikon, Switzerland). All aqueous solutions were prepared using Milli-Q water (resistivity >18 M Ω .cm). Ammonium acetate, acetic acid, triethylamine and, Tween 80[®] (T80) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Buschs Switzerland). All other chemicals were of at least analytical grade.

2.2. Preparation of standard solutions

A 2 mg/ml concentration stock solution of olanzapine was prepared in ACN. Five standard solutions (1 μ g/ml, 5 μ g/ml, 10 μ g/ml, 50 μ g/ml, and 100 μ g/ml) were obtained by further dissolution of drug stock solution with PBS. These standard fresh solutions were used for the preparation of calibration curves.

2.3. Instrumentation and chromatographic conditions

An ASI-100 auto-sample equipped with a P680A LPG-4 pump and UVD 170U detector (Formerly Dionex AG, now Thermo Fisher Scientific AG; Reinach, Switzerland) was used for HPLC analysis. The system was controlled by Chromeleon[®] Chromatography Management Software.

Chromatographic separation of the analytes was achieved using a LiChrospher[®] (BGB Analytik AG; Boeckten, Switzerland) C8 Reverse-phase analytical column (250 x 4.0 mm, 5 μ m). A LiChrospher[®] guard column (10 x 4.0 mm, 5 μ m) with the same packing material was mounted upstream from the analytical column. The column temperature was kept at 45 ± 1 °C, the flow rate was maintained at 1.2 ml/min, and the UV absorbance wavelength was set at 260 nm. The injection volume was 50 μ l. The mobile phase was composed of phase A, C₂H₇NO₂ buffer (30 mM, pH 6.5 with acetic acid) 0.05 % triethylamine and phase B, ACN (40:60, v/v).

2.4. Olanzapine analytical method validation

The method was validated according to ICH guidelines Q2 (R1) [155] with respect to linearity, detection limit (DL) and quantification limit (QL), specificity, accuracy and precision.

The linearity of the analytical method was validated using the five standard solutions previously described. Calibration curves were obtained by least squares linear regression analysis of the peak area obtained as a function of drug concentration. Each concentration was assayed six times to determine intra-day reproducibility. In order to detect inter-day validation, the procedure described above was repeated on six different days.

The detection limit is the lowest amount of a substance that can be detected but not necessarily quantified as an exact value. The quantification limit is the lowest amount of the drug that can be quantitatively determined with defined precision under the experimental conditions. Assuming a normal distribution of measured concentration values, DL and QL were calculated from the standard deviation of the regression data (SD) and from the slop of the linear regression (b), following Equation 9 and Equation 10:

Equation 9.

$$DL = 3.3 \frac{SD}{b}$$

Equation 10.

$$QL = 10 \frac{SD}{b}$$

Specificity was the absence of interference from endogenous compounds present in the skin and was investigated by injecting 10 samples of porcine skin extract.

Accuracy expresses the closeness between the calculated value and the accepted reference value. It was defined as the relative error of the nominal solution concentration. Measurements had to be within \pm 10 % for all concentrations to be considered acceptable. The precision of an analytical method expresses the closeness of agreement between a series of measurements obtained from multiple sampling of the same homogeneous drug solution under fixed conditions and provides information regarding random error. The variance of the repeatability and intermediate precision, and the corresponding relative standard deviation (RSD), were calculated from the estimated concentrations. To be considered acceptable, the RSD had to be lower than 10 % at all of the concentrations analysed.

The stability of OLZ in contact with the skin was studied. An aliquot of OLZ was kept in contact with skin, for 24 hours (n = 3; mean \pm SD), after it was centrifuged, filtered and analised by HPLC.

The effect of filtering was also evaluated to demonstrate that there were no significant differences between results after filtering. For this propose an olanzapine solution (50 μ g/ml; n = 3) was filtered using either a PTFE filter (0.45 μ m) or a nylon filter (0.45 μ m). The concentration of the solution post-filtration and pre-filtration was measured and results were compared.

In order to determine the experimental solubility of olanzapine in buffer solution (MES 60 mM, pH 5.5) at 25 °C, the drug was added to Eppendorfs with 0.5 ml of these isotonic buffer solutions in a quantity that exceeded the saturation limit. This was carried out at room temperature (~25 °C) and the solutions were stirred for 12 hours to ensure saturation. Then the Eppendorfs were centrifuged for 20 minutes at 12000 rpm. Finally, samples were taken and diluted to be quantificated by HPLC.

To evaluate the procedure of extraction of olanzapine from the skin after the diffusion experiment, portions of skin (2 cm²) were cut into small pieces and placed in contact with 100 μ l of a 1 mg/ml solution of olanzapine that was stirred for 30 minutes. Afterwards, the skin was shaken for 12 hours with 5 ml of a mix of acetonitrile-water (50:50, 75:25, 25:75) in order to extract the drug. Samples of 1.5 ml were centrifuged for 20 minutes at 12000 rpm. Finally, samples of 1 ml of supernatant were filtered and analysed by HPLC.

2.5. Transdermal delivery of olanzapine

2.5.1. Skin source

Porcine ears were obtained from an abattoir (CARRE; Rolle, Switzerland). The skin was excised (thickness 1.1 mm) with a surgical blade, wrapped in ParafilmTM and stored at -20 °C for a maximum period of two months.

2.5.2. Passive permeation experiments

The validated HPLC method was used to quantify olanzapine in the samples obtained from *ex-vivo* transdermal diffusion studies. These experiments were performed employing vertical Franz diffusion cells (Glass Technology; Geneva, Switzerland) with a diffusion area of ~2 cm² and skin from pig ear as the membrane.

One ml of a solution of olanzapine (3 mg/ml) prepared in an isotonic buffer (MES 60 mM, pH 5.5) was placed in the donor compartment. The receptor compartment (12 ml volume) was filled with isotonic buffer (PBS-T80 1 %, pH 7.4), thermostated at 36.9 ± 0.1 °C (n = 30) and stirred by a rotating Teflon-coated super magnet placed inside the cell to prevent boundary layer effects. One ml samples were removed manually from the receptor chamber at predetermined time intervals (every hour starting at hour 4 of the experiment) during the 8 hours that the experiment lasted. The volume of sample removed was replaced with the same volume of buffer. The olanzapine contained in each sample was recorded in order to calculate the accumulative amount (Q) in the receptor compartment. At the end of the *ex-vivo* transdermal diffusion experiments the amount of drug retained in the skin was also determined by the previously validated extraction procedure. The transdermal flux was estimated from the slope of the linear

region (steady-state portion) of the plot of the cumulative amount of olanzapine $(\mu g/cm^2)$ against time (hours).

2.5.3. P.L.E.A.S.E.[®] Microporation permeation experiments

The skin surface was dried and samples were then mounted on a customdesigned assembly [83]. Afterwards, laser treatment was performed to determine the effect of pore density (fractional ablated area) and pore derp, and microporation parameters were set to provide 10 % pore density at a fluence of 89.9 J/cm² (Figure 27). OLZ experiments were performed on the same skin samples, following the method described previously.



Figure 27. "P.L.E.A.S.E." private". Obtained from reference <u>www.pantec-</u> <u>biosolutions.com.</u>

2.6. Data analysis

Data were expressed as mean \pm SD. Results were evaluated statically using analysis of variance (one way - ANOVA), and the Holm-Sidak test was performed for post-hoc multiple comparison. The level of significance was fixed at p < 0.05.

3. Results and discussion

We describe a specific and sensitive HPLC method to determine OLZ. This method enables us to determine OLZ in samples obtained from *ex-vivo* transdermal permeation experiments. The methods used for this purpose need to be highly specific, as these kinds of samples usually contain endogenous compounds present in the skin.
Furthermore, the method needs to be sufficiently sensitive due to the frequently low concentration of drug in the samples collected in these experiments.

Since the OLZ absorbance spectra showed a maximum peak of absorbance at 260 nm (Figure 28), the wavelength selected was sensitive and specific enough to analyze OLZ in the range of concentrations of the samples collected in the transdermal diffusion experiments. Under these conditions, we obtained a good separation between OLZ and endogenous compounds from skin in our samples.



Figure 28. Olanzapine UV spectra obtained with a BioTek Synergy Mx Multi-Mode Reader showing the peak at 260 nm. **A:** water. **B:** water – olanzapine.

Representative chromatograms under the chromatographic conditions selected for PBS-skin extract and an OLZ standard solution prepared with PBS-skin extract are shown in Figure 29. The olanzapine retention time was 5.22 ± 0.07 minutes and the total running time was 7 minutes. The method was considered to be specific, as there was no interference from endogenous compounds from the skin and the olanzapine peak was separated from the solvent front.

The method was validated using the following criteria: specificity, linearity, precision, accuracy, DL, QL, stability and applicability to *ex-vivo* diffusion studies [155].

Ten blank samples of skin extracts in PBS were analysed to investigate the specificity of the method. No interference was found at the olanzapine retention time (Figure 29).



Figure 29. Chromatogram of olanzapine 50 μ g/ml with skin extract with PBS and with skin extract with PBS without olanzapine. PBS: phosphate buffer saline. OLZ: olanzapine.

The method exhibited linearity between the response and the corresponding concentration of olanzapine over the $1 \mu g/ml - 100 \mu g/ml$ concentration range. The least square linear regression analysis showed a correlation coefficient of 0.999. The slope of the calibration curve was statistically different from zero, and the intercept was not statistically different from zero.

The relative error value was computed for each concentration of calibration standard (Table 13). Accuracy was within acceptable limits, the values obtained for all concentrations were below 10 %, and the results of the intra-day and inter-day precision were below 10 % in all cases (Table 13).

	Intra-day var	iability (n = 6	Inter-day variability (n = 6)			
Nominal concentration (µg/ml)	Concentration measured (µg/ml)	Accuracy (%)	RSD (%)	Concentration measured (µg/ml)	Accuracy (%)	RSD (%)
1	1.02 ± 0.09	1.5	8.69	0.997 ± 0.086	0.3	8.64
5	4.75 ± 0.25	5.0	5.26	4.78 ± 0.14	4.4	2.84
10	9.30 ± 0.15	7.0	1.63	9.15 ± 0.24	8.6	2.67
50	50.0 ± 1.9	0.0	3.70	50.1 ± 1.7	0.3	3.40
100	99.6 ± 3.04	0.3	3.05	99.2 ± 1.4	0.8	1.45

Table 13. Intra and inter-day precision and accuracy of the HPLC method.

RSD: relative standard deviation.

The DL and QL of olanzapine were 0.28 μ g/ml and 0.84 μ g/ml, respectively. The QL reported by other authors were smaller due to the detector employed; for example, a MS/MS detector [133,135,136,139,141,142,144,145,148], electrochemical detector

[137,146,147], electrospray ionization mass spectrometry [149], amperometic detector [138] or voltammetry [140]. Other groups have employed a complicated method to prepare the sample before analysing it [150–154] or they have used longer running time for the HPLC analysis [156].

Other methods similar to ours have obtained lower DL and QL but also had a small linearity range ($25 \mu g/ml - 75 \mu g/ml$) [157]. We have compromised between a lower sensitivity and a wider linearity range, which we consider important for our studies.

Olanzapine was considered to be stable in the presence of skin, since the concentration measured after 24 hours of exposure was $94.4 \pm 0.4 \%$ (n = 3; mean ± SD) of the initial value.

The solubility of olanzapine in the tested isotonic buffers is shown in Table 14.

Table 14. The solubility of olanzapine in different solvents.

Isotonic Solution	Mean ± SD (μg/ml)		
Water	131.78 ± 26.87		
MES (60 mM) pH 5.5	3478.54 ± 566.47		
PBS-T80 1 % pH 7.6	267 ± 16.81		
NAEC, 2 meanshaling, athenaey lforeig	a sid us sus slavelus to		

MES: 2-morpholino-ethanesulfonic acid monohydrate. PBS-T80: phosphate buffer saline Tween 80[®]. SD: standard deviation.

Ex-vivo methods are designed to measure the penetration of skin by chemicals and their subsequent diffusion across the skin into a fluid reservoir [158]. To perform these *ex-vivo* permeation studies, diffusion Franz cells were employed. Finally, MES buffer (60 mM, pH 5.5) was selected to prepare the donor solution, as it had the highest solubility of the tested solvents [159,160]. PBS–T80 1 % (pH 7.6) was selected for the receptor compartment to mimic real *in-vivo* conditions. Other authors use a mix of PBS and methanol in the receptor compartment [150] or a mix of organic solvents [161]. OLZ has better solubility in this media, but the solutions obtained do not resemble *in-vivo* skin diffusion conditions. For this reason we selected PBS–T80 1 % as a receptor solution. The concentration of the drug measured after filtration through a PTFE and nylon filter was 78.7 ± 2.4 % and 94.4 ± 0.4 % (n \ge 3; mean \pm SD), respectively, of the initial value. Based on this study a nylon filter was selected for use in the rest of studies.

The skin extraction procedure efficiency was $90.08 \pm 18.5 \%$, $91.08 \pm 20.4 \%$ and $76.27 \pm 19.2 \%$, respectively, when using ACN:water (75:25, 50:50, 25:75) (n = 3). Following this evaluation, a 50:50 ratios was selected.

3.1. Olanzapine transdermal *ex-vivo* experiments

OLZ was not detected in the receptor compartment after 8 hours of passive permeation.

P.L.E.A.S.E.[®] Microporation was chosen as the enhancer technique. OLZ permeation was detected after absorption *ex-vivo* experiments using a laser and a OLZ 3 mg/ml solution. Figure 30 shows the permeation profile of OLZ after laser ablation. The accumulative amount of OLZ after 8 hours was 178.46 ± 31.69 μ g/cm².



Figure 30. Quantification of the cumulated permeation amount of OLZ after an absorption study using laser ablated skin. (Mean \pm SD; n \geq 3).

The total accumulative amount of OLZ in the skin (Figure 31) was $51.26 \pm 1.98 \,\mu\text{g/cm}^2$ after the passive study and $194.30 \pm 36.78 \,\mu\text{g/cm}^2$ after microporation. The amount of OLZ deposited in the skin was significantly higher in the microporated samples (p < 0.05). This could have been due to the integrity of the

stratum corneum being affected by the laser and because the OLZ bypassed the first layers of the skin easily [83].



Figure 31. Total accumulated amount of OLZ – the sum of the amount permeated across and deposited within the membrane – after 8 hours of transdermal permeation using intact skin (passive) or microporated skin (Mean ± SD; n ≥ 3).

Finally, when we compared the sum of the total accumulative amount of OLZ, this quantity was found to be more than 7 times higher in the microporated skin, which was a statistically significant difference (p < 0.05).

Our results show that laser ablation, which compromises the integrity of the stratum corneum and increases the absorption of OLZ across the skin, is a potential strategy to bypass the stratum corneum.

Chapter 7

Controlled iontophoretic delivery of olanzapine: development of transdermal formulations

1. Introduction

Atypical antipsychotic drugs are used for the treatment of mental disorders such as schizophrenia. This therapeutic group includes olanzapine (OLZ), a thienobenzodiazepine derivative, which has proven to be effective against the positive and negative symptoms of this illness [92].

Currently, OLZ is commercially available as orally disintegrating tablets, which should be dissolved in the mouth and swallowed with or without liquid, as well as in the form of intramuscular injections. Although OLZ is an effective antipsychotic agent, considering patient noncompliance with oral administration and the inconveniences associated with parenteral administration, a pharmaceutical form of transdermallyadministrated OLZ could have obvious benefits for the treatment of schizophrenia.

Transdermal administration is advantageous in that it avoids gastrointestinal incompatibility and the first-pass metabolism and consequent reduction of the bioavailability of the drug. In the case of OLZ, approximately 40 % of the dose is metabolized by the liver before reaching the systemic circulation [162]. Moreover, percutaneous administration reduces the frequency of dosing and is comfortable and non-invasive for the patient, which could improve patient compliance [76,163].

The skin is a natural barrier against the penetration of most drugs, and, consequently, different methodologies have been applied in order to enhance the transdermal absorption of pharmacological products.

Recently, microporation has been introduced as a physical technique to increase the permeation OLZ (see Chapter 6). This physical enhancer undermines the integrity of the skin [83] and requires trained healthcare personnel to administer it. In contrast, iontophoresis by-passes the stratum corneum without compromising the integrity of the skin, while there are devices available for personal administration [164].

Iontophoresis aids drug transport across the skin by means of the application of a low-level electric current ($\leq 0.5 \text{ mA/cm}^2$) [78]. The mechanisms by which iontophoresis enhances molecular transport across the skin are: (a) electromigration (EM), in which a charged ion is repelled from an electrode with the same charge; (b) electroosmosis (EO), the convective flow of solvent that occurs through a charged pore in response to the

preferential passage of counter ions when the electric field is applied; and (c) a currentinduced increase in skin permeability.

The application conditions of the iontophoretic field determine molecular transport across the skin; for example, iontophoretic transdermal transport is more efficient, as the background electrolyte concentration is lowered and is directly dependent on the current density applied [165,166].

Of the different formulations that can be applied with iontophoresis, transdermal drug delivery systems are one of the most common. There are different types of said systems; for example the reservoir transdermal system (reservoir-TS) and matrix transdermal systems (TS). A semisolid formulation is required in the case of reservoir-TS, and some of the most frequent semisolid polymers are hydrophilic polymers, like polyvinyl pyrrolidone (PVP), hydroxypropyl metilcellulose (HPMC) or hydroxyethyl cellulose (HEC). A matrix-TS relies on other options, and one of the most used polymers is PVP [114,167,168].

The aim of the present work was (1) to prepare different transdermal formulations with OLZ; (2) to characterize drug transdermal absorption across pig ear skin; (3) to assay the effect of iontophoresis current density on the transdermal absorption of OLZ; and (4) to evaluate the effect of iontophoresis on the permeation of OLZ from these formulations.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Reagents

Olanzapine was purchased from Watsonnoke Scientific.

2-morpholino-ethanesulfonic acid monohydrate (MES) was obtained from Fluka (Buchs, Switzerland). Phosphate buffer saline (PBS) was prepared with disodium hydrogen phosphate, sodium dihydrogen phosphate, sodium chloride (NaCl) and bidestilled water, all of which were supplied by Sigma-Aldrich (Buschs, Switzerland). The pH of this solution was adjusted to 7.5 \pm 0.1 by adding hydrochloric acid 5 N or sodium hydroxide 5 N when required.

PVP, HPMC, HEC, sorbitol, acetaminophen (ACM), carbopol and agarose were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Buschs, Switzerland).

ScotchpackTM Backing 9733 layer, used to laminate the TS, was obtained from $3M^{TM}$ (USA).

The PVC tubing (ID 3.17 mm; OD 4.97 mm) used to prepare the saline bridges in the iontophoresis experiments was bought from VWR International AG (Dietikon, Switzerland). Silver (Ag) wire and silver chloride (AgCl) used for making electrodes were supplied by Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, US).

UPLC/MS grade acetonitrile was bought from VWR International AG (Dietikon, Switzerland). All aqueous solutions were prepared using Milli-Q water (resistivity >18 M Ω .cm). All other chemicals were of analytical or high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) grade.

2.2. Preparation of olanzapine transdermal formulations

Different hydrophilic gels with OLZ were formulated to be used in reservoir-TS. A matrix-TS containing OLZ was also developed.

The polymers most applied to skin belong to different groups, such as cellulose derivatives, chitosan, carrageenan, polyacrylates, polyvinylalcohol, polyvinylpyrrolidone and silicones [169]. They are used as gelatin agents and matrixes in transdermal systems.

For gel preparation, the following polymers were selected based on their compatibility with the drug: PVP (15 %, w/w), HPMC (2 %, w/w) or HEC (2 %, w/w). These polymers provide a hydrophilic matrix that improves the delivery of OLZ and are suitable for topical formulations [169].

To elaborate an OLZ matrix, TS PVP (20 %, w/w) was used as a polymer. This polymer has been employed previously to prepare different TS of different drugs, including sumatriptan succinate [114,167], pizotifen malate [170] and memantine hydrochloride [168].

For the creation of the transdermal formulations, a solution of MES 60 mM with OLZ was prepared and the required amount of PVP, HPMC or HEC slowly added. These

solutions were left overnight to allow the elimination of air bubbles from the gel. The composition of the gels is set out in Table 15.

For preparation of the OLZ-TS we followed the same procedure as that used to prepare the PVP gel, but including sorbitol as a filmogen agent (Table 15). The final mixture was laminated (1 mm) on an occlusive layer (Scotchpack[™] 9733 backing) and dried using a Mathis Labcoater LTE-SM, a preindustrial machine employed to prepare TS. The optimal drying conditions were as follows: surface temperature 50 °C; dwell time 20 minutes; and time model mode B.

Composition		OLZ TS		
PVP	15	-	-	20
HPMC	-	2	-	-
HEC	-	-	2	-
Sorbitol	-	-	-	5
MES Solution	55	68	68	45
Olanzapine	30	30	30	30

Table 15. Composition (%, w/w) of transdermal formulations prepared with olanzapine.

OLZ: olanzapine; TS: transdermal system; PVP: polyvinylpyrrolidone; HPMC: hydroxylpropyl methylcellulose; HEC: hydroxyethyl cellulose; MES: 2-morpholino-ethanesulfonic acid monohydrate buffer.

2.3. Olanzapine transdermal absorption assays

2.3.1. Ex-vivo diffusion studies

For *ex-vivo* transdermal diffusion experiments porcine ear skin was used as a membrane, as it is considered a good research model of human skin [171,172]. The ears were obtained from a local abattoir (CARRE; Rolle, Switzerland) within a few hours of sacrifice and were cleaned under cold running water. The skin was removed carefully from the inner region of the ear and separated from the underlying cartilage with a scalpel. The tissue was wrapped in Parafilm[™] and stored at -20 °C for a maximum period of one month. Before beginning the experiment, the skin was defrosted and equilibrated by dipping in isotonic buffer solution at room temperature for one hour.

Permeation experiments were performed following the previously explained procedure (2.5.2. Passive permeation experiment, Chapter 6). The transdermal flux was

estimated from the slope of the linear region (steady-state portion) of the plot of the accumulative amount of OLZ (μ g/cm²) against time (hours).

The procedure described in chapter 6 (2.5.2. Passive permeation experiment) was employed for transdermal absorption studies of the formulations (PVP, HPMC, HEC gels with OLZ, and PVP TS with OLZ). 1 ml of gel or a ~2 cm² piece of TS was placed in the donor compartment. TS are not adhesive in the dry state, but become bioadhesive when applied to wet skin. For this reason, before application of the system, the skin was moistened with 15 μ l/cm² of water to allow its adhesion [114].

2.3.2. Iontophoresis transdermal experiments

Iontophoresis experiments were performed following the method previously described for the *ex-vivo* diffusion studies. In this case, electrodes were added to apply the current and a solution containing 15 mM of acetominophene was incorporated into the donor compartment to determine the contribution of electroosmosis [173].

The anodal and cathodal compartments were regardless of the diffusion cells (Figure 32). Both compartments were filled with 10 ml of saline solution with NaCl (133 mM). The anodal compartment was assessed separately take apart to avoid ionic competition for diffusion between the drug and other electrolytes that might have been present in the donor compartment [174], and the cathodal compartment was assessed separately take separately to minimize the interaction between the drug and the cathode. Saline bridges (3 % agarose + 0.1 M NaCl) were employed to electrically connect the physically isolated anodal compartment with the donor compartment, and the isolated cathodal compartment with the receptor compartment.

A reversible pair of Ag⁺ and AgCl electrodes were placed in the anodal and cathodal compartment, respectively. Electrodes were made in-house by covering an Ag wire with melted AgCl. The melted AgCl solidifies on cooling and fixes to the Ag⁺ wire. The rest of the wire was covered with plastic heat shrink tubing to protect it from corrosion.



Figure 32. Iontophoresis set-up used for *ex-vivo* permeation experiments. 1: Anodal compartment; 2: Receptor compartment; 3: Cathodal compartment; 4: Saline bridge; 5: Donor compartment.

The effect of current on molecular transport of OLZ was studied using three constant current densities - 0.25 mA/cm², 0.4 mA/cm², and 0.5 mA/cm² - applied for 8 hours, using a APH 1000 M power generator (Kepco Inc; Flushing, US).

Co-iontophoresis of acetaminophen (a neutral hydrophilic molecule whose iontophoretic transport is due exclusively to electrically-induced convective solvent flow, EO) was used to study the contribution of electromigration and electoosmosis in the total iontophoretic flux of OLZ [175–177]. Experiments were performed without OLZ to determine the flux of ACM under a current density of 0.5 mA/cm², to determine the inhibition factor, and to report the effect of OLZ transport on skin permselectivity [175–177]. In brief, the equations (11, 12 and 13) used were as follows:

Equation 11.

$$J_{EM} = J_{tot} - J_{EO}$$

Equation 12.

$$V_W = \frac{J_{ACM}}{C_{ACM}}$$

Equation 13.

$$IF = \frac{Q_{ACM}}{Q_{ACM.OLZ}}$$

Where,

J_{tot} = total flux

 J_{EM} = flux due to electromigration

 $J_{EO} = V_W C_{OLZ}$

 J_{EO} = flux due to electroosmotic flow

 V_W = linear velocity of solvent flow

 C_{OLZ} = concentration of OLZ

 J_{ACM} = flux of the marker molecule (ACM)

C_{ACM} = donor concentration of the marker molecule (ACM)

IF = inhibition factor

 Q_{ACM} = cumulative permeation of ACM in 8 hours in the absence of OLZ

 $Q_{ACM.OLZ}$ = cumulative permeation of ACM in 8 hours in the presence of OLZ

It was used to perform permeation assays in which iontophoresis was applied to the developed formulations.

The same procedure as that employed for the experiments with the OLZ solutions was followed for the assays of the OLZ gels, with the exception that 1 ml of the formulation was applied to the donor compartment and a current density of 0.5 mA/cm² was applied.

The previous methodology was adapted for iontophoresis with the TS. In this case, a small $\sim 2 \text{ cm}^2$ disc of agarose with NaCl was placed in the donor compartment, in contact with the TS. On top of this agarose, 1 ml of carbopol gel with NaCl was added, and was at the same time in contact with the saline bridge. This set-up allowed the current to be conducted through the TS.

2.4. Instrumentation and chromatographic conditions

An ASI-100 auto-sample equipped with a P680A LPG-4 pump and UVD 170U detector (Formerly Dionex AG, now Thermo Fisher Scientific AG; Reinach, Switzerland) was used for HPLC analysis. The system was controlled by Chromeleon[®] Chromatography Management Software.

Chromatographic separation of the analytes was achieved on a LiChrospher[®] (BGB Analytik AG; Boeckten, Switzerland) C8 Reverse-phase analytical column (250 x 4.0 mm, 5 μ m). A LiChrospher[®] guard column (10 x 4.0 mm, 5 μ m) with the same packing material was mounted upstream from the analytical column. The column temperature was maintained at 45 ± 1 °C, the flow rate was maintained at 1.2 ml/min, and the UV absorbance wavelength was set at 260 nm. The injection volume was 50 μ l. The mobile phase was comprised of phase A, C₂H₇NO₂ buffer (30 mM, pH 6.5 with acetic acid) 0.05 % triethylamine, and phase B, acetonitrile (40:60 v/v).

ACM from iontophoresis assays was analysed by HPLC-UV/VIS, modifying the mobile phase composition with respect to the OLZ analysis. In this case, the mobile phase consisted of a mixture of ammonium di-hydrogen phosphate solution (pH 4.6) and acetonitrile (90:10 v/v).

2.5. Data analysis

The samples obtained in the transdermal absorption experiments were analysed using the previously mentioned HPLC-UV/VIS method.

Once the samples of OLZ and ACM were quantified, the accumulated amounts of OLZ and ACM in the receptor compartment were calculated. The absorption profiles of OLZ and ACM were obtained by plotting the accumulated amount in the receptor chamber (μ g/cm²) *versus* time (h). The transdermal flux observed for the iontophoresis study was estimated in the steady state and obtained from the slope of the linear region of the accumulated amount of OLZ and ACM in the receptor chamber (μ g/cm²) *versus* time (h).

Fluxes, permeated amount and efficiency of OLZ delivery were compared by oneway ANOVA. Post-hoc multiple comparison was performed by means of Holm-Sidak tests (level of significance for statistical differences was p < 0.05).

3. Results and discussion

Control passive diffusion experiments with OLZ lasting 8 hours resulted in very poor permeation, with OLZ levels below the detection limit. In contrast, OLZ anodal

iontophoresis of a drug solution (3 mg/ml) with the highest density assayed (0.5 mA/cm²) resulted in accumulative permeation of $212.51 \pm 66.26 \,\mu$ g/cm² after 8 hours.

The accumulative anodal iontophoretic permeation, skin deposition and efficiency of OLZ as a function of current densities obtained in the experiments we performed are shown in Figure 33. The efficiency is defined as the ratio of the amount of drug permeated to the amount contained in the formulation in the donor compartment. The permeation amount, the total accumulative amount and the efficiency of OLZ increased linearly when the current density rose (r = 0.999, 0.992 and 0.992 respectively). This information may be of interest to physicians, as it may help to determine dosage options for each patient.

In reference to the inhibition factor (Equation 13) obtained after comparison of the accumulative permeation amount of ACM in the presence and absence of OLZ with 0.5 mA/cm^2 current density, a value of 0.91 ± 0.09 was obtained. This IF value indicated that skin permselectivity was not altered by OLZ.



Figure 33. Effect of current density (0.25 mA/cm^2 , 0.40 mA/cm^2 and 0.50 mA/cm^2) on total accumulated amount of OLZ – the sum of the amount permeated across and deposited within the membrane – and efficiency after 8 hours transdermal iontophoresis using a 3 mg/ml solution (Mean ± SD; n ≥ 3).

With respect to principal iontophoretic transport mechanism in OLZ electromigration (Table 16), the contribution % of EM obtained with the current densities of 0.25 mA/cm^2 , 0.4 mA/cm^2 and 0.5 mA/cm^2 was 98.03 %, 97.61 % and 96.61 % respectively.

Table 16. Data of EO flux, EM flux and total flux (mean \pm SD; n \geq 3) obtained after permeation studies with ACM and OLZ under different current densities. Correlation coefficients obtained in different conditions.

Current Density (mA/cm ²)	Total Flux (μg/cm²/h)	EM flux (µg/cm²/h)	EO flux (µg/cm²/h)	
0.25	16.1 ± 4.1	15.8 ± 3.9	0.3± 0.3	
0.40	22.0 ± 7.5	21.5 ± 7.6	0.5 ± 0.2	
0.50	28.0 ± 4.6	27.0 ± 4.5	0.9 ± 0.4	
r ²	0.98	0.99	0.91	

EO: electroosmosis. EM: electromigration.

Moreover, there was linearity between the results obtained for the different current intensities and EO, EM and total fluxes, as can be observed in Table 16. There were significant differences between the flux of EM and EO (p < 0.05). As the results show, EM flux was more than 30 times higher than EO flux. These results show that OLZ transport across the skin was governed by EM; thus, it was dependent mainly on the charge of the molecule. These were logical results, as OLZ had two positive charges at pH 5.5, and these charges made the drug an excellent candidate for the iontophoresis enhancer technique.

The feasibility studies described above were performed using aqueous buffer solutions. However, transdermal iontophoresis devices for clinical use are microprocessor systems containing a drug reservoir in a polymeric matrix or a TS matrix. PVP, HPMC and HEC gels formulated with olanzapine were developed in order to be easily used as a drug reservoir within a TS. The PVP matrix TS we developed were thin, transparent and non-adhesive in a dry state, only becoming bioadhesive in the presence of water, and remained adhered to the skin throughout the assay.

After formulating the different gels and TS, the amount of drug in the formulation was determined. In the PVP, HEC and HPMC these concentrations were

 2.980 ± 0.046 mg/ml, 3.030 ± 0.055 mg/ml and 2.964 ± 0.063 mg/ml, respectively. The concentration of OLZ in the TS was lower than in the gels: 0.422 ± 0.009 mg/cm².

In the passive permeation studies of the formulations, OLZ was not detected in the receiving compartment, but small quantities were deposited in the skin (Table 17), There were not significant differences between the deposited amount in the skin obtained with the OLZ solution and with the formulations (p > 0.05).

Table 17. Accumulative amount of olanzapine in receptor compartment at the end of the experiments (μ g/cm²), olanzapine amount deposited in the skin (μ g/cm²), delivery efficiency (%) and transdermal flux of olanzapine across skin (μ g/cm²/h). (Mean ± SD; n = 3).

		Current (mA/cm²)	Cumulative amount (µg/cm²)	Deposited in skin (µg/cm²)	Efficiency (%)	Flux (µg/cm²/h)
		-	-	47.91 ± 1.78	2.40 ± 0.09	-
tio		0.2	120.51 ± 71.82	104.02 ± 20.94	11.23 ± 4.35	16 ± 4
Solu		0.4	178.12 ± 55.88	143.93 ± 42.49	16.10 ± 3.65	22 ± 8
		0.5	212.51 ± 66.26	197.55 ± 85.62	20.50 ± 4.85	28 ± 5
Gel	PVP	-	-	21.66 ± 4.61	1.44 ± 0.31	-
	PVP	0.5	156.65 ± 47.68	58.65 ± 31.80	10.77 ± 1.10	20 ± 5
	HPMC	-	-	28.48 ± 15.91	1.41 ± 0.65	-
	HPMC	0.5	181.02 ± 120.79	155.75 ± 64.88	17.71 ± 4.84	24 ± 4
	HEC	-	-	14.59 ± 7.90	0.90 ± 0.42	-
	HEC	0.5	128.82 ± 51.15	361.54 ± 198.95	17.76 ± 6.74	28 ± 8
TS	PVP	-	-	2.31 ± 3.28	0.55 ± 0.78	-
	PVP	0.5	23.66 ± 8.22	19.33 ± 8.52	10.77 ± 1.10	1.93 ± 0.6

TS: transdermal system; PVP: polyvinylpirrolidone; HPMC: hydroxypropyl methylcellulose; HEC: hydroxyethyl cellulose.

We did not observe statistically significant differences between the content of OLZ in the solution and in the formulated gels (p > 0.05). In contrast, the TS contained less amounts of OLZ, though differences with respect to efficiency when a 0.5 mA/cm² current density was applied were not statistically significant (p > 0.05). In addition, when we compared the flux obtained with the different formulations, there were statistically significant differences between PVP-TS and the rest of the formulations in the same conditions (p < 0.05).

Lastly, when we compared the amounts of OLZ accumulated in the receptor compartment with the amounts deposited in the skin after the *ex-vivo* studies performed with the different gels, no statistically significant differences were detected. between the permeated amounts or the deposited amounts of OLZ on the skin.

In 2013 Aggarwal *et al* developed a matrix transdermal system for the administration of OLZ. This transdermal system contained Eudragit[®] as a TS and natural oils as chemical enhancers [150]. In *ex-vivo* conditions, the fluxes obtained were similar to the fluxes that we have obtained with the different gels plus iontophoresis. After these studies Aggarwal *et al* performed some *in-vivo* pharmacological and pharmacokinetic studies with mices and rabbits, respectively.

Chapter 8: Discussion

1. Ocular administration

The most frequent pharmaceutical form for ocular administration of drugs is eye drops, but this dosage formulation normally has poor drug ocular absorption due to low permanence time in contact with the eye [3]. This problem is resolved by increasing the frequency of administration, but this can lead to poor patient adherence to the treatment. Ocular inserts are a non-invasive alternative to this problem [15]. These pharmaceutical delivery systems increase the permanence time of the drug in contact to the ocular surface, reducing the frequency of administration and resulting in better patient compliance [31].

One of the most common eye diseases is conjunctivitis, and **Moxifloxacin** is one of the drugs used for its treatment. Currently, it is commercialized as eye drops (Vigamox[®]). This thesis studies the possibility of developing a soluble ocular insert with moxifloxacin for its ocular administration. To characterise this insert, *ex-vivo* permeation studies were performed. Rabbit corneas were selected as a model, because they are easy to obtain and are the most commonly used animal model for *in-vivo* ocular studies. It can be difficult to obtain rabbit eyes daily, so some authors have used frozen rabbit corneas in their studies [101]. Furthermore, it is extend demonstrated in *ex-vivo* experiment performed with other membranes, like skin [171]. We analysed the viability of rabbit corneas preserved under different conditions as a membrane for use in *ex-vivo* permeation experiments.

Figure 34 shows statistical differences in the permeation of moxifloxacin through corneas preserved under three different conditions. As described previously, in Chapter 4, there were statistically significant differences between fresh corneas and the two groups of frozen corneas (p < 0.05).

Other authors have performed ocular experiments with fresh and frozen corneas, and obtained no significant differences between them [101]. However, they affirmed that, for small and hydrophilic molecules, such as moxifloxacin, the freezing procedure could affect permeation of the drug. Furthermore, our experiments lasted 3 hours, while the aforementioned group recorded data after 2 hours and their experiments lasted

24 hours. The duration of the experiment could be an important factor underlying differences between the final results of the two studies.



Figure 34. Accumulated amount of moxifloxacin obtained in the receptor compartment at the end of the experiment (μ g/cm²) with corneas preserved under different conditions. (Mean ± SD; n ≥ 3) *p < 0.05.

The results obtained in this work are consistent with the structure of the principal barrier of the cornea - the epithelium - which is entirely composed of live cells [16] and is likely to be affected considerably during the freezing and thawing processes (Figure 20). This structure of the cornea is radically different to the skin barrier, the stratum corneum, which is composed of dead cells [60]. This is probably why freezing and thawing do not induce any significant structural change in the skin. In light of this previous data, fresh corneas were selected to perform the *ex-vivo* permeation ocular studies with moxifloxacin.

Three soluble ocular inserts containing moxifloxacin were formulated with hyroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC), polyvinylpyrrolidone K30 (PVP-K30) and polyethylenglycol (PEG) as bioadhesive polymers and glycerin as a plasticizing agent (Table 9). After physical evaluation, insert-3, which had the highest concentration of the three bioadhesive polymers used, was selected for the *ex-vivo* permeation experiments. This insert contained 172.86 ± 9.47 µg/cm² of moxifloxacin, was practically transparent, adhered easily to the moist ocular mucosa and was thinner than similar inserts developed by other authors [102,103,122].

At the end of the *ex-vivo* permeation experiment performed with an insert of 0.5 cm², the amount of moxifloxacin accumulated in the receptor compartment was $26.04 \pm 3.21 \,\mu g/cm^2$. Other authors have reported а concentration of $0.6681 \pm 0.4980 \,\mu g/ml$ moxifloxacin in the aqueous humour of the human eye 60 minutes after ocular administration of a drop [124]. In our experiment the permeated amount after 60 minutes was 10.68 \pm 4.13 μ g/cm². Assuming an ocular volume of 6.5 ml, the permeated amount of the drug would be approximately 5.34 μ g and this would give an approximate concentration of $0.82 \,\mu g/ml$. Therefore, the soluble ocular insert developed in this study could achieve higher concentrations than those referred to in the pharmacokinetic information of current commercial eye drops.

Gluthatione (GSH) is an antioxidant that has potential to be used as a treatment for retinal degenerative diseases such as retinitis pigmentosa [56]. One of the aims of this thesis was to evaluate the possibility of administering GSH through the eye and to develop a formulation for its possible use.

First, the stability of GSH was studied with and without vitamin C and under different conditions. After comparing the stability of the two solutions in the different conditions assayed, the optimal preservation conditions proved to be 4 °C, at which temperature the solution was stable for one month. Vitamin C did not have a bearing on the preservation of GSH in any of the conditions studied. When vitamin C was added to the solutions preserved at 25 °C in light or darkness the degradation of GSH increased. This could be because GSH and vitamin C are both antioxidants that physiologically work together [56] so that, in this case, GSH preserved the vitamin C, but more studies would be needed to test this hypothesis.

Two different liquid formulations (eye drops) and one semisolid insert containing GSH were prepared. The eye drops were formulated in phosphate saline buffer at pH 6.5 with two different concentrations of GSH: 5 mg/ml and 10 mg/ml. The semisolid insert was prepared with HPMC, PVP-K30 and PEG as bioadhesive polymers and glycerin as a plasticizer, and with a GSH concentration of 10 mg/ml.

We performed permeation studies for our formulations with cornea and sclera. We used both membranes in these *ex-vivo* experiments because the target tissue was

the retina, which is separated from the sclera by choroid [50], and so it was important to analyse permeation through this latter membrane.

Figure 35 shows the accumulative permeated amount of GSH through cornea and sclera for our three formulations and shows statistically significant differences between the two membranes for all three formulations (p < 0.05). The amount of GSH permeating through sclera was higher than that permeating through cornea. This could be a consequence of the different structure of the two tissues [16]. The cornea is a complex tissue with different layers that have different affinity for hydrophilic and lipophilic molecules [23]. This increases the difficulty of the molecule to permeate through this tissue to the internal part of the eye. On the other hand, the sclera is composed of a simple layer of collagen fibres [23], and hydrophilic molecules, like those of GSH, penetrate easily through this tissue.



Figure 35. GSH accumulated amounts in the receptor compartment after 3 hours $(\mu g/cm^2)$ in samples undergoing *ex-vivo* transcorneal and transsclera permeation studies performed with the different formulations. (Mean ± SD; n ≥ 3).

In Figure 35 it is obvious that the highest permeated amount of GSH in the receptor compartment was obtained with the 10 mg/ml solution of GSH. No statistically significant differences were found in the amount of GSH accumulated in the receptor compartment between the 5 mg/ml solution and the semisolid insert with 10 mg/ml of GSH (p > 0.05). This could have been a result of the delivery process of GSH from the semisolid insert, before being absorbed by the eye.

Other research group in our university uses rd10 mice, as a model of retinitis pigmentosa, to study possible antioxidant treatments [178]. Collaboration with them could be possible to evaluate the efficacy of topical administration of GSH in this disease.

2. Transdermal administration

Transdermal drug delivery is used to administer drugs through the skin for a systemic therapeutic effect, and is employed as an alternative to oral, intravascular, subcutaneous and transmucosal routes [179]. Transdermal systems permit a transdermal systemic administration of drugs [1].

Olanzapine (OLZ) is an atypical antipsychotic drug used to treat schizophrenia and other mental disorders. The bioavailability of the drug after its first pass metabolism is approximately 60 % of the administrated dose [162]. This hepatic reduction of the drug could be avoided by a transdermal system (TS), and the reduction of administration frequency could improve patient compliance. Furthermore, this route is comfortable and non-invasive for the patient [76,163].

One of the objectives of this thesis was to analyse the feasibility of transdermal administration of OLZ as an alternative treatment for schizophrenia.

A high performed liquid chromatography method was validated to, for used in permeation studies. The method was specific and the response was accurate, precise and linear from $1 \mu g/ml$ to $100 \mu g/ml$. The validated concentration range was suitable for quantification of olanzapine in samples from transdermal delivery studies.

Several passive absorption experiments were performed with porcine skin as the membrane and with a donor solution of 3 mg/ml of OLZ. After these experiments no permeated amount was observed in the receptor compartment (Figure 36).



Figure 36. Total accumulated amount of olanzapine – the sum of the amount permeated across and deposited within the membrane- at the end of the experiment (μ g/cm²) asseessomg a solution of 3 mg/ml of OLZ, passively and using microporation and iontophoresis as enhancer techniques. (Mean ± SD; n ≥ 3) *p < 0.05.

Two different enhancer techniques were tested to increase this permeation of OLZ through the skin. Figure 37 shows microscopy pictures of intact skin, skin after microporation and skin after iontophoresis (0.5 mA/cm²). The different effects of these enhancer techniques on the skin can be observed. The intact barrier of the skin (A), the hole made by microporation with the interruption of the integrity of the stratum corneum (B), and the effect of iontophoresis, with disruption of the stratum corneum after its application (C), can be seen.



Figure 37. Skin photographs after use of different physical enhancer techniques. A: Intact skin. B: Microporated skin. C: Skin after 8 hours of iontophoretic treatment 0.5 mA/cm².

The results obtained after *ex-vivo* permeation experiments with an OLZ solution applied passively or under the effect of laser ablation (10 % pore density, fluency of

89.9 J/cm²) or iontophoresis (0.5 mA/cm²) are shown in Figure 36. No significant differences were observed in deposited amount, permeated amount or efficiency between the olanzapine permeation studies in which iontophoresis 0.5 mA/cm² was applied and those in which microporation was employed (p > 0.05). However, there were significant differences between the results obtained after passive assays and the ones performed with enhancers (p < 0.05). Moreover, both iontophoresis and microporation increased the total accumulated amount of OLZ 8- and 7-fold respectively. These results confirmed the appropriateness of these two enhancer techniques for increasing the transdermal administration of OLZ.

Other studies have compared the use of iontophoresis and that of different enhancer techniques whose aim is to overcome the barrier of the stratum corneum. For example, Abla *et al.* [174] compared the use of iontophoresis and tape-stripping for peptide administration and also found no differences between the two techniques.

Iontophoresis was selected as an enhancer technique for our assays because devices are available for personal administration [163] and because microporation needs to be performed by trained health workers, which could be annoying for the patient.

Different current densities were tested (0.5 mA/cm^2 , 0.4 mA/cm^2 and 0.25 mA/cm^2). The total accumulative amount and efficiency of OLZ increased linearly as the current density rose ($r^2 = 0.999$; 0.992; 0.992). The inhibition factor obtained after comparison of the permeated amount of acetaminophen in the presence and absence of OLZ either 0.5 mA/cm^2 current density was 0.91. The electromigration flux was more than 30 times higher than the electroosmosis flux. This showed that iontophoretic transport is regulated principally by electromigration.

In addition, different formulations of olanzapine were prepared: three gels, each with a different polymer (PVP-K90, hydroxyethyl cellulose (HEC) and HPMC), and a TS of PVP-K90 (Table 15).

Ex-vivo permeation experiments were performed using these preparations alone or in conjunction with iontophoresis. Figure 38 shows that iontophoresis 0.5 mA/cm²

significantly increased the permeated amount, deposited amount and efficiency of OLZ (p < 0.05).



Figure 38. Total accumulated amount of olanzapine – the sum of the amount permeated across and deposited within the membrane- at the end of the experiment (μ g/cm²) assessing a solution of OLZ or the formulation containing OLZ, passively and using iontophoresis as an enhancer technique. (Mean ± SD; n ≥ 3). TS: transdermal system; PVP: polyvinylpirrolidone; HPMC: hydroxypropyl methylcellulose; HEC: hydroxyethyl cellulose; lonto: iontophoresis 0.5 mA/cm².

Although the solution and formulated gels of OLZ contained approximately the same amount of the drug and the TS contained a lower amount, no statistically significant differences between efficiency were found under the same administration conditions (p > 0.05).

In addition, statistically significant differences were not detected between the permeated amount and deposited amount of OLZ in the skin after the *ex-vivo* studies performed with the different gels and when iontophoresis was applied (p > 0.05).

The efficiency of OLZ increased approximately 7-fold in the case of the PVP-K90 gel, 12-fold in rather case of the HPMC gel, and more than 19-fold in that of the HEC gel and the PVP-K90 TS when applied with iontophoresis 0.5 mA/cm².

Other studies of transdermal administration of OLZ have been published by Aggarwal *et al.* In 2013, they developed a transdermal matrix system for the administration of OLZ that included Eudragit[®] as a polymeric film and natural oils as

chemical enhancers [150]. In *ex-vivo* conditions, the fluxes obtained were similar to those observed in the present study when the different gels were administered with iontophoresis. Aggarwal *et al.* performed subsequent pharmacological and pharmacokinetic *in-vivo* studies with this formulation, achieving promising data.

It can be concluded that the gels formulated in this study have produced promising results and encourage further investigation of the possibility of developing a reservoir TS for their administration in *in-vivo* studies applying iontophoresis to reach therapeutically plasmatic levels.

This thesis has studied three different drugs: moxifloxacin for the treatment of conjunctivitis, glutathione as an antioxidant treatment for retinal degenerative diseases, and olanzapine for the treatment of schizophrenia. Different drug delivery systems were developed for administration of the three drugs. The results obtained after ex-vivo permeation studies with the formulations were promising in the case of all three drugs. However, further *in-vivo* studies will be needed in order to ensure the efficacy of these formulations.

Chapter 9: Conclusions / Conclusiones

Conclusions

From the results obtained we can highlight the following conclusions:

1. It is possible to prepare a soluble ocular insert containing moxifloxacin for the treatment of conjunctivitis. The insert contains hydroxypropyl methylcellulose, polyvinylpyrrolidone K30 and polyethylenglycol as bioadhesive polymers and glycerin as a plasticizing agent. The insert is practically transparent, thin and adheres easily to the moist ocular mucosa.

2. In accordance with the pharmacokinetic information provided with the commercial formulation Vigamox[®] (eye drops of moxifloxacin), *ex-vivo* experiments performed with our ocular insert show that higher ocular concentrations of moxifloxacin can, theoretically, be achieved.

3. A glutathione solution (pH 6.5) can be preserved at 4 °C in darkness for one month. The incorporation of vitamin C into this solution does not lengthen its preservation.

4. Two solutions of glutathione (pH 6.5) and a semisolid ocular insert of glutathione containing hydroxypropyl methylcellulose, polyvinylpyrrolidone K30 and polyethylenglycol as bioadhesive polymers and glycerin as a plasticizing agent were prepared.

5. *Ex-vivo* permeation studies of the developed formulation showed that glutathione permeated through the cornea and sclera. Therefore, this formulation can be used as an antioxidant treatment in retinal degenerative diseases such as retinitis pigmentosa.

6. We have validated a HPLC method for determining olanzapine, a drug used in the treatment of schizophrenia, in samples obtained from *ex-vivo* permeation studies with pig skin. The method is specific and the response accurate, precise and linear from $1 \mu g/ml$ to 100 $\mu g/ml$.

7. In *ex-vivo* assays performed with pig skin, olanzapine is not detected in the receptor compartment. However, the application of iontophoresis and microporation as enhancer techniques favours the absorption of olanzapine accross the skin.

8. Iontophoresis was selected as an enhancer technique because it is easy for patients to apply. The iontophoresis transport of olanzapine is regularised by electromigration.

9. Different transdermal delivery systems with olanzapine were developed: gels with polyvinylpyrrolidone, hydroxypropyl methylcellulose, and hydroxyethyl cellulose, and a transdermal sytem with polyvinylpyrrolidone. When iontophoresis 0.5 mA/cm² was applied the best results were obtained with the hydroxyethyl cellulose gel.

Conclusiones

A partir de los resultados obtenidos, se pueden extraer las siguientes conclusiones:

1. Es posible preparar un inserto ocular soluble que contenga moxifloxacino para el tratamiento de la conjuntivitis. Este inserto contiene hidroxipropil metilcelulosa, polivinilpirrolidona K30 y polietlenglicol, como polímeros bioadhesivos y glicerina como agente plastificante. El inserto es prácticamente transparente, tiene un espesor reducido y se adhiere fácilmente a la mucosa ocular húmeda.

2. De acuerdo con la información farmacocinética de la formulación comercial Vigamox [®] (colirio de moxifloxacino), y los resultados obtenidos en los estudios *ex-vivo* realizados con el inserto de moxifloxacino desarrollado, se podrían obtener teóricamente concentraciones oculares del fármaco superiores.

3. El glutatión en solución (pH 6.5) puede conservarse durante un mes a 4 °C y en oscuridad. La incorporación de vitamina C a esta solución no mejora su tiempo de validez.

4. Es posible elaborar dos soluciones de glutatión a pH 6.5 y un inserto ocular semisólido de glutatión compuesto por hidroxipropil metilcelulosa, polivinilpirrolidona K30 y polietilenglicol, como polímeros bioadhesivos, y glicerina, como agente plastificante.

5. Los ensayos *ex-vivo* de permeación realizados con las formulaciones desarrolladas muestran que el GSH permea a través de la esclera y la córnea y podrían
ser usadas como posible tratamiento antioxidante para enfermedades degenerativas de la retina, como la retinitis pigmentosa.

6. Se ha validado un método de HPLC para determinar la olanzapina, fármaco utilizado para el tratamiento de la esquizofrenia, en muestras obtenidas de experimentos *ex-vivo* de absorción a través de piel de cerdo. El método desarrollado es específico, exacto, preciso y lineal entre 1 μg/ml y 100 μg/ml.

7. En los ensayos *ex-vivo* realizados con olanzapina en piel de cerdo, no se detectó el fármaco en el compartimento receptor. Sin embargo, la aplicación de la iontoforesis y la microporación como técnicas promotoras favorece la permeación de la olanzapina a través de la piel.

8. De las técnicas estudiadas, se ha seleccionado la iontoforesis porque es más fácil su aplicación por parte del paciente El transporte de la olanzapina a través de la piel aplicando iontoforesis, está fundamentalmente regido por la electromigración.

9. Se han desarrollado diferentes sistemas de liberación transdérmica de olanzapina, geles de polivinilpirrolidona, hidroxipropil metilcelulosa y hidroxietil celulosa así como un sistema transdérmico de polivinilpirrolidona. Al aplicar estas formulaciones con iontophoresis 0.5 mA/cm², los mejores resultados se obtuvieron con el gel de hidroxietil celulosa.

Chapter 10: References

- [1] Kewal KJ. Drug Delivery Systems. Springer; 2008.
- [2] Souza JG, Dias K, Pereira TA, Bernardi DS, Lopez RF V. Topical delivery of ocular therapeutics: carrier systems and physical methods. J Pharm Pharmacol 2014;66:507–30. doi:10.1111/jphp.12132.
- [3] Vandervoort J, Ludwig A. Ocular drug delivery: nanomedicine applications. Nanomedicine 2007;2:11–21. doi:10.2217/17435889.2.1.11.
- [4] Rathore K, Nema R. Review on ocular inserts. Int J PharmTech Res 2009;1:164–9.
- [5] Rathore K, Nema R. An insight into ophthalmic drug delivery system. Int J Pharm Sci Drug Res 2009;1:1–5.
- [6] Woodcock JM, Andrews JM, Boswell FJ, Brenwald NP, Wise R. In vitro activity of BAY 12-8039, a new fluoroquinolone. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1997;41:101–6.
- [7] Langlois M-H, Montagut M, Dubost J-P, Grellet J, Saux M-C. Protonation equilibrium and lipophilicity of moxifloxacin. J Pharm Biomed Anal 2005;37:389–93. doi:10.1016/j.jpba.2004.10.022.
- [8] Komeima K, Usui S, Shen J, Rogers BS, Campochiaro PA. Blockade of neuronal nitric oxide synthase reduces cone cell death in a model of retinitis pigmentosa. Free Radic Biol Med 2008;45:905–12. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2008.06.020.
- [9] Schimel AM, Abraham L, Cox D, Sene A, Kraus C, Dace DS, et al. N-acetylcysteine amide (NACA) prevents retinal degeneration by up-regulating reduced glutathione production and reversing lipid peroxidation. Am J Pathol 2011;178:2032–43. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.01.036.
- [10] van de Pavert SA, Sanz AS, Aartsen WM, Vos RM, Versteeg I, Beck SC, et al. Crb1 is a determinant of retinal apical Müller glia cell features. Glia 2007;55:1486–97. doi:10.1002/glia.20561.
- [11] Yoon KD, Yamamoto K, Zhou J, Sparrow JR. Photo-products of retinal pigment epithelial bisretinoids react with cellular thiols. Mol Vis 2011;17:1839–49.
- [12] Wang Y, Thakur R, Fan Q, Michniak B. Transdermal iontophoresis: combination strategies to improve transdermal iontophoretic drug delivery. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2005;60:179– 91. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2004.12.008.
- [13] Bachhav YG, Summer S, Heinrich A, Bragagna T, Böhler C, Kalia YN. Effect of controlled laser microporation on drug transport kinetics into and across the skin. J Control Release 2010;146:31–6. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2010.05.025.
- [14] Callaghan JT, Bergstrom RF, Ptak LR, Beasley CM. Olanzapine. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic profile. Clin Pharmacokinet 1999;37:177–93. doi:10.2165/00003088-199937030-00001.
- [15] Gaudana R, Ananthula HK, Parenky A, Mitra AK. Ocular drug delivery. AAPS J 2010;12:348–60. doi:10.1208/s12248-010-9183-3.
- [16] Tortora GJ, Derrickson B. Principios de anatomía y fisiología. 13th ed. Panamerican; 2013.

- [17] Dowling J. The retina: an approachable part of the brain. revised ed. Belknap Press; 2012.
- [18] Stangor C. Introduction to Psychology. Flat world education; 2010.
- [19] Doane MG, Jensen AD, Dohlman CH. Penetration routes of topically applied eye medications. Am J Ophthalmol 1978;85:383–6.
- [20] Järvinen K, Järvinen T, Urtti A. Ocular absorption following topical delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 1995;16:3–19. doi:10.1016/0169-409X(95)00010-5.
- [21] Prausnitz MR, Noonan JS. Permeability of cornea, sclera, and conjunctiva: A literature analysis for drug delivery to the eye. J Pharm Sci 1998;87:1479–88. doi:10.1021/js9802594.
- [22] Clout NJ, Hohenester E. A model of FAS1 domain 4 of the corneal protein beta(ig)-h3 gives a clearer view on corneal dystrophies. Mol Vis 2003;9:440–8. doi:v9/a56 [pii].
- [23] Kim SH, Lutz RJ, Wang NS, Robinson MR. Transport Barriers in Transscleral Drug Delivery for Retinal Diseases. Ophthalmic Res 2007;39:244–54. doi:10.1159/000108117.
- [24] Geroski DH, Edelhauser HF. Transscleral drug delivery for posterior segment disease. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2001;52:37–48. doi:10.1016/S0169-409X(01)00193-4.
- [25] Carney LG. Human Tear pH. Arch Ophthalmol 1976;94:821–4. doi:10.1001/archopht.1976.03910030405011.
- [26] Mishima S, Gasset A, Klyce SD, Baum JL. Determination of Tear Volume and Tear Flow. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1966;5:264–76.
- [27] Baranowski P, Karolewicz B, Gajda M, Pluta J. Ophthalmic Drug Dosage Forms: Characterisation and Research Methods. Sci World J 2014;2014:1–14. doi:10.1155/2014/861904.
- [28] Quigley HA. Identification of glaucoma-related visual field abnormality with the screening protocol of frequency doubling technology. Am J Ophthalmol 1998;125:819–29. doi:10.1016/S0002-9394(98)00046-4.
- [29] Mitra AK. Ophthalmic Drug Delivery Systems. 2nd ed. New York, New York, USA: Marcel Dekker; 2003.
- [30] Morrison PW, Khutoryanskiy V V. Advances in ophthalmic drug delivery. Ther Deliv 2014;5:1297–315. doi:10.4155/tde.14.75.
- [31] Kanski JJ, Bowling B. Oftalmologia clinica. 7th ed. Elsevier; 2012.
- [32] Barberá Loustaunau E, Vázquez Castro F. Tratamientos tópicos oculares: revisión. Inf Ter Sist Nac Salud 2009;33:80–7.
- [33] Rang HP, Rittler JM, Flower RJ, Henderson G. Rang & Dale's Pharmacology. 8th ed. Elsevier; 2016.
- [34] Dalhoff A, Petersen U, Endermann R. In vitro Activity of BAY 12-8039, a New 8-Methoxyquinolone. Chemotherapy 1996;42:410–25. doi:10.1159/000239474.

- [35] Biedenbach DJ, Jones RN. The comparative antimicrobial activity of levofloxacin tested against 350 clinical isolates of streptococci. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 1996;25:47–51. doi:10.1016/0732-8893(96)00066-1.
- [36] Davis R, Bryson HM. Levofloxacin. Drugs 1994;47:677–700. doi:10.2165/00003495-199447040-00008.
- [37] Thompson AM. Ocular toxicity of fluoroquinolones. Clin Experiment Ophthalmol 2007;35:566–77. doi:10.1111/j.1442-9071.2007.01552.x.
- [38] Doonan F, Cotter TG. Apoptosis: A Potential Therapeutic Target for Retinal Degenerations. Curr Neurovasc Res 2004;1:41–53. doi:10.2174/1567202043480215.
- [39] Hackam AS, Strom R, Liu D, Qian J, Wang C, Otteson D, et al. Identification of Gene Expression Changes Associated with the Progression of Retinal Degeneration in the rd1 Mouse. Investig Opthalmology Vis Sci 2004;45:2929–42. doi:10.1167/iovs.03-1184.
- [40] Halliwell B, Gutteridge JMC. Iron and free radical reactions: two aspects of antioxidant protection. Trends Biochem Sci 1986;11:372–5. doi:10.1016/0968-0004(86)90207-0.
- [41] Yu BP. Cellular defenses against damage from reactive oxygen species. Physiol Rev 1994;74:139–62.
- [42] Poulsen HE, Prieme H, Loft S. Role of oxidative DNA damage in cancer initiation and promotion. Eur J Cancer Prev 1998;7:9–16. doi:10.3123/jemsge.28.127.
- [43] Berson EL. A Randomized Trial of Vitamin A and Vitamin E Supplementation for Retinitis
Pigmentosa.Ophthalmol1993;111:761–72.doi:10.1001/archopht.1993.01090060049022.
- [44] Berson EL, Rosner B, Sandberg MA, Weigel-DiFranco C, Moser A, Brockhurst RJ, et al. Further Evaluation of Docosahexaenoic Acid in Patients With RetinitisPigmentosa Receiving Vitamin A Treatment. Arch Ophthalmol 2004;122:1306–14. doi:10.1001/archopht.122.9.1306.
- [45] Ganea E, Harding JJ. Glutathione-Related Enzymes and the Eye. Curr Eye Res 2006;31:1– 11. doi:10.1080/02713680500477347.
- [46] Bazan NG. Cell survival matters: docosahexaenoic acid signaling, neuroprotection and photoreceptors. Trends Neurosci 2006;29:263–71. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2006.03.005.
- [47] Miranda M, Alvarez-Nölting R, Araiz J, Romero Gómez FJ. Antioxidant therapy in retinitis pigmentosa. Nov Asp Neuroprotection 2010;661:1–15.
- [48] Shen J, Yang X, Dong A, Petters RM, Peng Y-W, Wong F, et al. Oxidative damage is a potential cause of cone cell death in retinitis pigmentosa. J Cell Physiol 2005;203:457–64. doi:10.1002/jcp.20346.
- [49] Cingolani C, Rogers B, Lu L, Kachi S, Shen J, Campochiaro PA. Retinal degeneration from oxidative damage. Free Radic Biol Med 2006;40:660–9. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2005.09.032.
- [50] Miranda M, Arnal E, Ahuja S, Alvarez-Nölting R, López-Pedrajas R, Ekström P, et al.

Antioxidants rescue photoreceptors in rd1 mice: Relationship with thiol metabolism. Free Radic Biol Med 2010;48:216–22. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2009.10.042.

- [51] Komeima K, Rogers BS, Lu L, Campochiaro PA. Antioxidants reduce cone cell death in a model of retinitis pigmentosa. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2006;103:11300–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0604056103.
- [52] Eckmiller R. Learning Retina Implants with Epiretinal Contacts. Ophthalmic Res 1997;29:281–9. doi:10.1159/000268026.
- [53] Alteheld N, Roessler G, Vobig M, Walter P. The Retina Implant New Approach to a Visual Prosthesis / Das Retina-Implant Ein neuer Ansatz für eine Sehprothese. Biomed Tech Eng 2004;49:99–103. doi:10.1515/BMT.2004.020.
- [54] Lamba DA, McUsic A, Hirata RK, Wang P-R, Russell D, Reh TA. Generation, Purification and Transplantation of Photoreceptors Derived from Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells. PLoS One 2010;5:e8763. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008763.
- [55] Mitscher LA, Telikepalli H, McGhee E, Shankel DM. Natural antimutagenic agents. Mutat Res Mol Mech Mutagen 1996;350:143–52. doi:10.1016/0027-5107(95)00099-2.
- [56] Sanz MM, Johnson LE, Ahuja S, Ekström PAR, Romero J, van Veen T. Significant photoreceptor rescue by treatment with a combination of antioxidants in an animal model for retinal degeneration. Neuroscience 2007;145:1120–9. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.12.034.
- [57] Komeima K, Rogers BS, Campochiaro PA. Antioxidants slow photoreceptor cell death in mouse models of retinitis pigmentosa. J Cell Physiol 2007;213:809–15. doi:10.1002/jcp.21152.
- [58] Ruxton GD, Wilkinson DM. Avoidance of overheating and selection for both hair loss and bipedality in hominins. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2011;108:20965–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1113915108.
- [59] Hartmann AA. Effect of occlusion on resident flora, skin-moisture and skin-pH. Arch Dermatol Res 1983;275:251–4. doi:10.1007/BF00416671.
- [60] Hendriks FM. Mechanical behaviour of human epidermal and dermal layers in vivo. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven; 2005. doi:10.6100/IR583921.
- [61] Koziel J, Potempa J. Protease-armed bacteria in the skin. Cell Tissue Res 2013;351:325– 37. doi:10.1007/s00441-012-1355-2.
- [62] Hendriks FM. Mechanical Behaviour of Human Skin in Vivo A Literature Review. NAT.LAB. Unclassif. Rep. 820. PHILIPS Res. Lab., 2001.
- [63] Jacobi U, Weigmann H-J, Ulrich J, Sterry W, Lademann J. Estimation of the relative stratum corneum amount removed by tape stripping. Ski Res Technol 2005;11:91–6. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0846.2005.00094.x.
- [64] Elias PM. The skin barrier as an innate immune element. Semin Immunopathol 2007;29:3–14. doi:10.1007/s00281-007-0060-9.

- [65] Prausnitz MR, Langer R. Transdermal drug delivery. Nat Biotechnol 2008;26:1261–8. doi:10.1038/nbt.1504.
- [66] Bos JD, Meinardi MMHM. The 500 Dalton rule for the skin penetration of chemical compounds and drugs. Exp Dermatol 2000;9:165–9. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0625.2000.009003165.x.
- [67] López A, Morant MJ, Guzmán D, Borrás-Blasco J, Diez-Sales O, Herráez M. Skin permeation model of phenylalkylcarboxylic homologous acids and their enhancer effect on percutaneous penetration of 5-Fluorouracil. Int J Pharm 1996;139:205–13. doi:10.1016/0378-5173(96)04628-5.
- [68] Schaefer UF, Hansen S, Schneider M, Contreras JL, Lehr C-M. Models for Skin Absorption and Skin Toxicity Testing. Drug Absorpt. Stud., Boston, MA: Springer US; 2008, p. 3–33. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-74901-3_1.
- [69] Barry B. Novel mechanisms and devices to enable successful transdermal drug delivery. Eur J Pharm Sci 2001;14:101–14. doi:10.1016/S0928-0987(01)00167-1.
- [70] Stahl J. Percutaneous Penetration Enhancers Chemical Methods in Penetration Enhancement. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2015. doi:10.1007/978-3-662-45013-0.
- [71] Casiraghi A, Ardovino P, Minghetti P, Botta C, Gattini A, Montanari L. Semisolid formulations containing dimethyl sulfoxide and α-tocopherol for the treatment of extravasation of antiblastic agents. Arch Dermatol Res 2007;299:201–7. doi:10.1007/s00403-007-0746-9.
- [72] Riviere JE, Papich MG. Potential and problems of developing transdermal patches for veterinary applications. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2001;50:175–203. doi:10.1016/S0169-409X(01)00157-0.
- [73] Scheindlin S. Transdermal Drug Delivery: PAST, PRESENT, FUTURE. Mol Interv 2004;4:308–12. doi:10.1124/mi.4.6.1.
- [74] Benson HAE. Transdermal Drug Delivery: Penetration Enhancement Techniques. Curr Drug Deliv 2005;2:23–33.
- [75] Dixit N, Bali V, Baboota S, Ahuja A, Ali J. Iontophoresis An Approach for Controlled Drug Delivery: A Review. Curr Drug Deliv 2007;4:1–10. doi:10.2174/156720107779314802.
- [76] Naik A, Kalia YN, Guy RH. Transdermal drug delivery: overcoming the skin's barrier function. Pharm Sci Technolo Today 2000;3:318–26. doi:10.1016/S1461-5347(00)00295-9.
- [77] Marro D, Kalia YN, Begoña Delgado-Charro M, Guy RH. Contributions of Electromigration and Electroosmosis to Iontophoretic Drug Delivery. Pharm Res 2001;18:1701–8. doi:10.1023/A:1013318412527.
- [78] Guy RH, Kalia YN, Delgado-Charro MB, Merino V, López A, Marro D. Iontophoresis: electrorepulsion and electroosmosis. J Control Release 2000;64:129–32. doi:10.1016/S0168-3659(99)00132-7.

- [79] Guy RH, Delgado-Charro MB, Kalia YN. Iontophoretic Transport across the Skin. Skin Pharmacol Physiol 2004;14:35–40. doi:10.1159/000056388.
- [80] Sylvestre J-P, Guy RH, Delgado-Charro MB. In vitro optimization of dexamethasone phosphate delivery by iontophoresis. Phys Ther 2008;88:1177–85. doi:10.2522/ptj.20080043.
- [81] Sieg A, Guy RH, Delgado-Charro MB. Electroosmosis in Transdermal Iontophoresis: Implications for Noninvasive and Calibration-Free Glucose Monitoring. Biophys J 2004;87:3344–50. doi:10.1529/biophysj.104.044792.
- [82] Dover JS, Hruza G. Lasers in skin resurfacing. Australas J Dermatol 2000;41:72–85. doi:10.1046/j.1440-0960.2000.00399.x.
- [83] Singhal M, del Río-Sancho S, Sonaje K, Kalia YN. Fractional Laser Ablation for the Cutaneous Delivery of Triamcinolone Acetonide from Cryomilled Polymeric Microparticles: Creating Intraepidermal Drug Depots. Mol Pharm 2016;13:500–11. doi:10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.5b00711.
- [84] Denet A-R, Vanbever R, Préat V. Skin electroporation for transdermal and topical delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2004;56:659–74. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2003.10.027.
- [85] Flórez J. Farmacología Humana. 6^a. Elsevier Masson; 2014.
- [86] McCloughen A. The association between schizophrenia and cigarette smoking: A review of the literature and implications for mental health nursing practice. Int J Ment Health Nurs 2003;12:119–29. doi:10.1046/j.1440-0979.2003.00278.x.
- [87] Jablensky A, Sartorius N, Ernberg G, Anker M, Korten A, Cooper JE, et al. Schizophrenia: manifestations, incidence and course in different cultures A World Health Organization Ten-Country Study. Psychol Med Monogr Suppl 1992;20:1–97. doi:10.1017/S0264180100000904.
- [88] Schultz SH, North SW, Shields CG. Schizophrenia : A Review. Am Fam Physician 2007;75:1821–9.
- [89] Hales RE, Yudofsky SC, Gabbard GO. Tratado de psiquiatria clinica. Artmed Edi. 2012.
- [90] Tharyan P, Adams CE. Electroconvulsive therapy for schizophrenia. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2009. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD000076.pub2.
- [91] Lund BC, Perry PJ. Olanzapine: an atypical antipsychotic for schizophrenia. Expert Opin Pharmacother 2000;1:305–23. doi:10.1517/14656566.1.2.305.
- [92] Bhana N, Foster RH, Olney R, Plosker GL. Olanzapine. Drugs 2001;61:111–61. doi:10.2165/00003495-200161010-00011.
- [93] Godin B, Touitou E. Transdermal skin delivery: Predictions for humans from in vivo, ex vivo and animal models. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2007;59:1152–61. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2007.07.004.
- [94] Jacobi U, Kaiser M, Toll R, Mangelsdorf S, Audring H, Otberg N, et al. Porcine ear skin: an in vitro model for human skin. Skin Res Technol 2007;13:19–24. doi:10.1111/j.1600-

0846.2006.00179.x.

- [95] Okamoto N, Ito Y, Nagai N, Murao T, Takiguchi Y, Kurimoto T, et al. Preparation of Ophthalmic Formulations Containing Cilostazol as an Anti-glaucoma Agent and Improvement in Its Permeability through the Rabbit Cornea. J Oleo Sci 2010;59:423–30. doi:10.5650/jos.59.423.
- [96] Majumdar S, Hingorani T, Srirangam R, Gadepalli RS, Rimoldi JM, Repka MA. Transcorneal permeation of L- and D-aspartate ester prodrugs of acyclovir: delineation of passive diffusion versus transporter involvement. Pharm Res 2009;26:1261–9. doi:10.1007/s11095-008-9730-0.
- [97] Fu RC-C, Lidgate DM. In Vitro Rabbit Corneal Permeability Study of Ketorolac, Tromethamine, a non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Agent. Drug Dev Ind Pharm 1986;12:2403–30. doi:10.3109/03639048609063190.
- [98] Majumdar S, Hingorani T, Srirangam R. Evaluation of active and passive transport processes in corneas extracted from preserved rabbit eyes. J Pharm Sci 2010;99:1921–30. doi:10.1002/jps.21979.
- [99] Srirangam R, Majumdar S. Passive asymmetric transport of hesperetin across isolated rabbit cornea. Int J Pharm 2010;394:60–7. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.04.036.
- [100] Chandran S, Roy A, Saha RN. Effect of pH and formulation variables on in vitro transcorneal permeability of flurbiprofen: a technical note. AAPS PharmSciTech 2008;9:1031–7. doi:10.1208/s12249-008-9139-4.
- [101] Van Der Bijl P, Engelbrecht AH, Van Eyk AD, Meyer D. Comparative permeability of human and rabbit corneas to cyclosporin and tritiated water. J Ocul Pharmacol Ther 2002;18:419–27. doi:10.1089/10807680260362704.
- [102] Pawar PK, Katara R, Majumdar DK. Design and evaluation of moxifloxacin hydrochloride ocular inserts. Acta Pharm 2012;62:93–104. doi:10.2478/v10007-012-0002-5.
- [103] Mundada AS, Shrikhande BK. Formulation and Evaluation of Ciprofloxacin Hydrochloride Soluble Ocular Drug Insert. Curr Eye Res 2008;33:469–75. doi:10.1080/02713680802023104.
- [104] Walters KA. Dermatological and transdermal formulations. Informa Healthcare; 2002.
- [105] Franz TJ. The Finite Dose Technique as a Valid in vitro Model for the Study of Percutaneous Absorption in Man. Curr Probl Dermatol 1978;7:58–68. doi:10.1159/000401276.
- [106] Mundada AS, Shrikhande BK. Design and Evaluation of Soluble Ocular Drug Insert for Controlled Release of Ciprofloxacin Hydrochloride. Drug Dev Ind Pharm 2006;32:443–8.
- [107] Kanski JJ, Bowling B. Synopsis of Clinical Ophthalmology. 2012.
- [108] Kalevar V. Donor corneae for preservation. A modified dissection technique. Br J Ophthalmol 1968;52:695.
- [109] Ahuja M, Dhake AS, Majumdar DK. Effect of formulation factors on in-vitro permeation of

diclofenac from experimental and marketed aqueous eye drops through excised goat cornea. Yakugaku Zasshi 2006;126:1369–75. doi:10.1248/yakushi.126.1369.

- [110] Pawar PK, Majumdar DK. Effect of formulation factors on in vitro permeation of moxifloxacin from aqueous drops through excised goat, sheep, and buffalo corneas. AAPS PharmSciTech 2006;7:E1–6. doi:10.1208/pt070113.
- [111] Srinivas N, Narasu L, Shankar BP, Mullangi R. Development and validation of a HPLC method for simultaneous quantitation of gatifloxacin, sparfloxacin and moxifloxacin using levofloxacin as internal standard in human plasma: application to a clinical pharmacokinetic study. Biomed Chromatogr 2008;22:1288–95. doi:10.1002/bmc.1060.
- [112] Rodríguez IC, Cerezo A, Salem II. Sistemas de liberación bioadhesivos. ARs Pharm 2000;1:115–28.
- [113] Ramkanth S, Chetty C. Design and evaluation of diclofenac sodium ocusert. PharmTech Res 2009;1:1219–23.
- [114] Balaguer-Fernández C, Padula C, Femenía-Font A, Merino V, Santi P, López-Castellano A. Development and evaluation of occlusive systems employing polyvinyl alcohol for transdermal delivery of sumatriptan succinate. Drug Deliv 2010;17:83–91. doi:10.3109/10717540903509019.
- [115] Femenía-Font A, Padula C, Marra F, Balaguer-Fernández C, Merino V, López-Castellano A, et al. Bioadhesive monolayer film for the in vitro transdermal delivery of sumatriptan. J Pharm Sci 2006;95:1561–9. doi:10.1002/jps.20638.
- [116] Rathore MS, Majumdar DK. Effect of formulation factors on in vitro transcorneal permeation of gatifloxacin from aqueous drops. AAPS PharmSciTech 2006;7:E1–6. doi:10.1208/pt070357.
- [117] Ubaidulla U, Reddy MVS, Ruckmani K, Ahmad FJ, Khar RK. Transdermal therapeutic system of carvedilol: effect of hydrophilic and hydrophobic matrix on in vitro and in vivo characteristics. AAPS PharmSciTech 2007;8:2. doi:10.1208/pt0801002.
- [118] Aqil M, Ali A, Sultana Y, Najmi AK. Fabrication and evaluation of polymeric films for transdermal delivery of pinacidil. Pharmazie 2004;59:631–5.
- [119] Aburahma MH, Mahmoud AA. Biodegradable ocular inserts for sustained delivery of brimonidine tartarate: preparation and in vitro/in vivo evaluation. AAPS PharmSciTech 2011;12:1335–47. doi:10.1208/s12249-011-9701-3.
- [120] Franca JR, Foureaux G, Fuscaldi LL, Ribeiro TG, Rodrigues LB, Bravo R, et al. Bimatoprost-Loaded Ocular Inserts as Sustained Release Drug Delivery Systems for Glaucoma Treatment: In Vitro and In Vivo Evaluation. PLoS One 2014;9:e95461. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0095461.
- [121] Jeganath S, Viji AA, Devi KS. Design and evaluation of controlled release ocuserts of indomethacin. Int J Pharm Sci Res 2011;2:80–6.
- [122] Reddy DM, Reddy YK, Reddy DR, Kumar NV, Suresh M, Althaff M, et al. Formulation and Evaluation of Ciprofloxacin Ocuserts. Res J Pharm Technol 2011;4:1663–5.

- [123] Rao M, Nappinnai M, Raju S, Rao V, Reddy B. Fluconazole ocular inserts: Formulation and in vitro evaluation. J Pharm Sci Res 2010;2:344–50.
- [124] Donnenfeld ED, Comstock TL, Proksch JW. Human aqueous humor concentrations of besifloxacin, moxifloxacin, and gatifloxacin after topical ocular application. J Cataract Refract Surg 2011;37:1082–9. doi:10.1016/j.jcrs.2010.12.046.
- [125] Stahl W, Sies H. Bioactivity and protective effects of natural carotenoids. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis 2005;1740:101–7. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2004.12.006.
- [126] Schmidt HHHW, Stocker R, Vollbracht C, Paulsen G, Riley D, Daiber A, et al. Antioxidants in Translational Medicine. Antioxid Redox Signal 2015;23:1130–43. doi:10.1089/ars.2015.6393.
- [127] Reed D, Babson J, Beatty P, Brodie AE, Ellis WW, Potter DW. High-performance liquid chromatography analysis of nanomole levels of glutathione, glutathione disulfide, and related thiols and disulfides. Anal Biochem 1980;106:55–62. doi:10.1016/0003-2697(80)90118-9.
- [128] Rotman M, Welling MM, Bunschoten A, de Backer ME, Rip J, Nabuurs RJA, et al. Enhanced glutathione PEGylated liposomal brain delivery of an anti-amyloid single domain antibody fragment in a mouse model for Alzheimer's disease. J Control Release 2015;203:40–50. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.02.012.
- [129] Rip J, Chen L, Hartman R, van den Heuvel A, Reijerkerk A, van Kregten J, et al. Glutathione PEGylated liposomes: pharmacokinetics and delivery of cargo across the blood-brain barrier in rats. J Drug Target 2014;22:460–7. doi:10.3109/1061186X.2014.888070.
- [130] Paquet-Durand F. Degenerating photoreceptors in Retinitis pigmentosa models release cGMP. A way of self protection? Res. a Vis. hpe ARVO 2016, Seattle, Whasington: 2016.
- [131] Lopez RFV, Seto JE, Blankschtein D, Langer R. Enhancing the transdermal delivery of rigid nanoparticles using the simultaneous application of ultrasound and sodium lauryl sulfate. Biomaterials 2011;32:933–41. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.09.060.
- [132] Erlendsson AM, Taudorf EH, Eriksson AH, Haak CS, Zibert JR, Paasch U, et al. Ablative fractional laser alters biodistribution of ingenol mebutate in the skin. Arch Dermatol Res 2015;307:515–22. doi:10.1007/s00403-015-1561-3.
- [133] Ansermot N, Brawand-Amey M, Kottelat A, Eap CB. Fast quantification of ten psychotropic drugs and metabolites in human plasma by ultra-high performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry for therapeutic drug monitoring. J Chromatogr A 2013;1292:160–72. doi:10.1016/j.chroma.2012.12.071.
- [134] Krishnaiah C, Vishnu Murthy M, Kumar R, Mukkanti K. Development of a stabilityindicating UPLC method for determining olanzapine and its associated degradation products present in active pharmaceutical ingredients and pharmaceutical dosage forms. J Pharm Biomed Anal 2011;54:667–73. doi:10.1016/j.jpba.2010.10.013.
- [135] Patteet L, Maudens KE, Sabbe B, Morrens M, De Doncker M, Neels H. High throughput identification and quantification of 16 antipsychotics and 8 major metabolites in serum using ultra-high performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Clin Chim Acta 2014;429:51–8. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2013.11.024.

- [136] Proença P, Franco JM, Mustra C, Monteiro C, Costa J, Corte-Real F, et al. UPLC-MS/MS determination in blood of a mixed-drug fatal intoxication: a case report. Forensic Sci Int 2013;227:85–9. doi:10.1016/j.forsciint.2012.10.038.
- [137] Catlow JT, Barton RD, Clements M, Gillespie TA, Goodwin M, Swanson SP. Analysis of olanzapine in human plasma utilizing reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection. J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl 1995;668:85–90. doi:10.1016/0378-4347(95)00061-M.
- [138] Raggi MA, Casamenti G, Mandrioli R, Volterra V. A sensitive high-performance liquid chromatographic method using electrochemical detection for the analysis of olanzapine and desmethylolanzapine in plasma of schizophrenic patients using a new solid-phase extraction procedure. J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl 2001;750:137–46. doi:10.1016/S0378-4347(00)00438-2.
- [139] Juenke JM, Brown PI, Urry FM, Johnson-Davis KL, McMillin GA. Simultaneous UPLC-MS/MS assay for the detection of the traditional antipsychotics haloperidol, fluphenazine, perphenazine, and thiothixene in serum and plasma. Clin Chim Acta 2013;423:32–4. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2013.04.014.
- [140] El-Shal MA. Electrochemical studies for the determination of quetiapine fumarate and olanzapine antipsychotic drugs. Adv Pharm Bull 2013;3:339–44. doi:10.5681/apb.2013.055.
- [141] Uřinovská R, Brozmanová H, Sištík P, Silhán P, Kacířová I, Lemr K, et al. Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry method for determination of five antidepressants and four atypical antipsychotics and their main metabolites in human serum. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 2012;907:101–7. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2012.09.009.
- [142] Josefsson M, Roman M, Skogh E, Dahl M-L. Liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry method for determination of olanzapine and N-desmethylolanzapine in human serum and cerebrospinal fluid. J Pharm Biomed Anal 2010;53:576–82. doi:10.1016/j.jpba.2010.03.040.
- [143] Zhou Z, Li X, Li K, Xie Z, Cheng Z, Peng W, et al. Simultaneous determination of clozapine, olanzapine, risperidone and quetiapine in plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr B Anal Technol Biomed Life Sci 2004;802:257–62. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2003.11.037.
- [144] Kassahun K, Mattiuz E, Nyhart, Eldon J, Obermeyer B, Gillespie T, Murphy A, et al. Disposition and Biotransformation of the Antipsychotic Agent Olanzapine in Humans. Drug Metab Dispos 1997;25:81–93.
- [145] Vitorino C, Almeida A, Sousa J, Lamarche I, Gobin P, Marchand S, et al. Passive and active strategies for transdermal delivery using co-encapsulating nanostructured lipid carriers: In vitro vs. in vivo studies. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2014;86:133–44. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2013.12.004.
- [146] Bergemann N, Frick A, Parzer P, Kopitz J. Olanzapine plasma concentration, average daily dose, and interaction with co-medication in schizophrenic patients. Pharmacopsychiatry 2004;37:63–8. doi:10.1055/s-2004-815527.

- [147] Chiu JA, Franklin RB. Analysis and pharmacokinetics of olanzapine (LY170053) and two metabolites in rat plasma using reversed-phase HPLC with electrochemical detection. J Pharm Biomed Anal 1996;14:609–15. doi:10.1016/0731-7085(95)01651-1.
- [148] Zheng Q, Wang F, Li H, Xu P, Tang H, Li L, et al. Quantitative analysis of olanzapine in rat brain microdialysates by HPLC-MS/MS coupled with column-switching technique. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 2012;905:127–32. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2012.07.024.
- [149] Bogusz MJ, Krüger KD, Maier RD, Erkwoh R, Tuchtenhagen F. Monitoring of olanzapine in serum by liquid chromatography–atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl 1999;732:257–69. doi:10.1016/S0378-4347(99)00287-X.
- [150] Aggarwal G, Dhawan S, Harikumar SL. Formulation, in vitro, and in vivo evaluation of matrix-type transdermal patches containing olanzapine. Pharm Dev Technol 2013;18:916–25. doi:10.3109/10837450.2011.609993.
- [151] Dusci LJ, Peter Hackett L, Fellows LM, Ilett KF. Determination of olanzapine in plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography using ultraviolet absorbance detection. J Chromatogr B 2002;773:191–7. doi:10.1016/S1570-0232(02)00164-2.
- [152] Raggi MA, Casamenti G, Mandrioli R, Izzo G, Kenndler E. Quantitation of olanzapine in tablets by HPLC, CZE, derivative spectrometry and linear voltammetry. J Pharm Biomed Anal 2000;23:973–81. doi:10.1016/S0731-7085(00)00382-4.
- [153] Weigmann H, Härtter S, Maehrlein S, Kiefer W, Krämer G, Dannhardt G, et al. Simultaneous determination of olanzapine, clozapine and demethylated metabolites in serum by on-line column-switching high-performance liquid chromatography. J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl 2001;759:63–71. doi:10.1016/S0378-4347(01)00215-8.
- [154] Zhang G, Terry A V, Bartlett MG. Simultaneous determination of five antipsychotic drugs in rat plasma by high performance liquid chromatography with ultraviolet detection. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 2007;856:20–8. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2007.05.015.
- [155] Validation of analytical procedures: text and methodology Q2 (R1). ICH Harmonised tripartite Guideline; 2014.
- [156] Cui D, Li Y, Lian M, Yang F, Meng Q. Development of a simple and stability-indicating RP-HPLC method for determining olanzapine and related impurities generated in the preparative process. Analyst 2011;136:3149–56. doi:10.1039/c1an15155j.
- [157] Reddy BV, Reddy KVNS, Sreeramulu J, Kanumula G V. Simultaneous Determination of Olanzapine and Fluoxetine by HPLC. Chromatographia 2007;66:111–4. doi:10.1365/s10337-007-0257-z.
- [158] nº 156 Joint meeting of the chemical commitee and the working party on chemical, pesticides and biotechnology. Organisation de coopération et de Développement Économiques; 2011.
- [159] Luís A, Dinis TBV, Passos H, Taha M, Freire MG. Good's buffers as novel phase-forming components of ionic-liquid-based aqueous biphasic systems. Biochem Eng J

2015;101:142-9. doi:10.1016/j.bej.2015.05.008.

- [160] Grady JK, Chasteen ND, Harris DC. Radicals from "Good's" buffers. Anal Biochem 1988;173:111–5. doi:10.1016/0003-2697(88)90167-4.
- [161] Borovinskaya M, Robert B, Plakogiannis FM. Evaluation of in vitro percutaneous absorption of olanzapine and fluoxetine HCl: enhancement properties of olanzapine. Drug Dev Ind Pharm 2012;38:227–34. doi:10.3109/03639045.2011.597765.
- [162] Mauri MC, Volonteri LS, Colasanti A, Fiorentini A, De Gaspari IF, Bareggi SR. Clinical Pharmacokinetics of Atypical Antipsychotics. Clin Pharmacokinet 2007;46:359–88. doi:10.2165/00003088-200746050-00001.
- [163] Tanner T, Marks R. Delivering drugs by the transdermal route: review and comment. Ski Res Technol 2008;14:249–60. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0846.2008.00316.x.
- [164] Cázares-Delgadillo J, Balaguer-Fernández C, Calatayud-Pascual A, Ganem-Rondero A, Quintanar-Guerrero D, López-Castellano AC, et al. Transdermal iontophoresis of dexamethasone sodium phosphate in vitro and in vivo: effect of experimental parameters and skin type on drug stability and transport kinetics. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2010;75:173–8. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2010.03.011.
- [165] Merino V, López A, Kalia YN, Guy RH. Electrorepulsion Versus Electroosmosis: Effect of pH on the lontophoretic Flux of 5-Fluorouracil. Pharm Res 1999;16:758–61. doi:10.1023/A:1018841111922.
- [166] Kim A, Green PG, Rao G, Guy RH. Convective Solvent Flow Across the Skin During Iontophoresis. Pharm Res 1993;10:1315–20. doi:10.1023/A:1018969713547.
- [167] Balaguer-Fernández C, Femenía-Font A, Del Rio-Sancho S, Merino V, López-Castellano A. Sumatriptan succinate transdermal delivery systems for the treatment of migraine. J Pharm Sci 2008;97:2102–9. doi:10.1002/jps.21129.
- [168] del Río-Sancho S, Serna-Jiménez CE, Sebastián-Morelló M, Calatayud-Pascual MA, Balaguer-Fernández C, Femenía-Font A, et al. Transdermal Therapeutic Systems for Memantine Delivery. Comparison of Passive and Iontophoretic Transport. Int J Pharm 2016. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2016.11.038.
- [169] Valenta C, Auner BG. The use of polymers for dermal and transdermal delivery. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2004;58:279–89. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2004.02.017.
- [170] Serna-Jiménez CE, del Rio-Sancho S, Calatayud-Pascual MA, Balaguer-Fernández C, Femenía-Font A, López-Castellano A, et al. Development of antimigraine transdermal delivery systems of pizotifen malate. Int J Pharm 2015;492:223–32. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.07.033.
- [171] Marro D, Guy RH, Begoña Delgado-Charro M. Characterization of the iontophoretic permselectivity properties of human and pig skin. J Control Release 2001;70:213–7. doi:10.1016/S0168-3659(00)00350-3.
- [172] van de Sandt JJM, Rutten AAJJL. Differential effects of chemical irritants in rabbit and human skin organ cultures. Toxicol Vitr 1995;9:157–68. doi:10.1016/0887-2333(94)00201-5.

- [173] Kalaria DR, Patel P, Patravale V, Kalia YN. Comparison of the cutaneous iontophoretic delivery of rasagiline and selegiline across porcine and human skin in vitro. Int J Pharm 2012;438:202–8. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2012.08.037.
- [174] Abla N, Naik A, Guy RH, Kalia YN. Contributions of electromigration and electroosmosis to peptide iontophoresis across intact and impaired skin. J Control Release 2005;108:319– 30. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2005.08.011.
- [175] Dubey S, Perozzo R, Scapozza L, Kalia YN. Noninvasive transdermal iontophoretic delivery of biologically active human basic fibroblast growth factor. Mol Pharm 2011;8:1322–31. doi:10.1021/mp200125j.
- [176] Dubey S, Kalia YN. Non-invasive iontophoretic delivery of enzymatically active ribonuclease A (13.6kDa) across intact porcine and human skins. J Control Release 2010;145:203–9. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2010.04.020.
- [177] Schuetz YB, Naik A, Guy RH, Kalia YN. Effect of amino acid sequence on transdermal iontophoretic peptide delivery. Eur J Pharm Sci 2005;26:429–37. doi:10.1016/j.ejps.2005.07.012.
- [178] Miranda M, Benlloch-Navarro S, Sánchez-Vallejo V, Trachsel-Moncho L, Soria JM, Almansa I, et al. Effect of glutathione ethyl ester, lipoic acid and progesterone on photoreceptor survival in the retina of rd10 mice. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2014;55:1733.
- [179] Pathan IB, Setty M. Chemical Penetration Enhancers for Transdermal Drug Delivery Systems. Trop J Pharm Res 2009;8:173–9.